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Definitions

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following RAFRF - KX ESEFEIN - LW THAZ
expressions shall have the following meanings: BANTERE :

"Articles” or “Articles of Association”

(4R sk BB =2 AR

“Audit Committee”

[EZEZEE]

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[EEg]

“BVI"
[RERELES]

"CEO"
[TTER#EEL

"CG Code”
[ ERsrall

“Compliance Committee”

’V/\%EK/\ EJ

“Controlling Shareholders”

MR BR

“Director(s)”

[E%)

//ESGH
[ESG]

"ESG Committee”
[ESGZE &

the second amended and restated articles of association of the Company,
adopted and took effect on 23 September 2022
ARARZFZ_FAA-T=ZARARERNE —_NHKEFTREEIERE
E%EHE\'J

the audit committee of the Board

ExgE%Ee

the board of Directors

-

the British Virgin Islands
RERZEE

the chief executive officer of the Company

RRBITERABE,

the “Corporate Governance Code” set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
FAR R ERCT P [ (R E AT AIL

the compliance committee of the Board

EXEEOR%EAS

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, unless the context
requires otherwise, collectively refers to Sky Mission and Mr. Leung Yam
Cheung, who, together, controls the exercise of 30% or more of the voting
power at general meetings of the Company

HEAEmRAME FZARENMEXEREAEN  RRERREFLEERSE
HRANARBIRERA G EFEHITTEE30%3 A EHIR M) 80 578

the director(s) of the Company
RAFIESE

Environmental, Social and Governance
R e kER

the ESG committee of the Board
BEEZQESGEZE®
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"FY2024"
[ZE NG MERFE]

"FY2025"
[T AFHMERFE]

"HK$" or "Hong Kong dollar(s)" or

"HKD” and “cent(s)”
[ 7T R 8L

"Kennex”

[&Ah)

“Listing”
[l
“Listing Date"”
[ = B HA

“Listing Rules”
[ LR Al

“Model Code”
[1Z2E=rHl]

“Nomination Committee”
[RRZEg]

“Prospectus”

TR EE]

“Remuneration Committee”

FHEZEE]

“SFO”
[R5 KR %RB]

e — o e

Definitions
PEE S

the financial year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NME=-A=+t—BLFRFE

the financial year ended 31 March 2025
 E-F_RAF A=t HUEMBFE

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong
Kong
DRIREEEEEEE T REAN

Kennex Scaffolding Systems Co., Limited G2 /13BZR ZA B R A F]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 23 March 2015 with limited liability and an
indirect Wholly—ovvned subsidiary of the Company

BAOBRERFARAR  —HRZZ—AF=-A=-+=BEFBTMEINE
ﬁE’AET&Z%ZIK/ATFﬁTfiﬁW%’AET

the listing of Shares on the Stock Exchange by way of placing and public offer
on the Listing Date
R ARLE R AR BEEN TN EH A HERB P EH

29 September 2020, the date of listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange
“ETFAAZTAB  ROEBRMER T A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B FrRE 7 L AR A

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
EHRBIMERCIFAE LM BEITAERETESFR HNIELETA]

the nomination committee of the Board

EFEgeRw%EAE

prospectus of the Company dated 15 September 2020
ARAREHR T _TFAATHANERER

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFEEVMERS

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
FREPIESNEESF R AEED
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Definitions

“Share(s)”
(A% 7]

“Shareholder(s)”
[H% 3R]

“Sky Mission”

ENE

“Stock Exchange”
(B 22 PR

"Temmex”
[R3E]
"Temmex Brothers”

[RERE]

II%H

(%]

the ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
RRARIRAREREEO.OETTH LB

the holder(s) of the Shares
fEinEFE A

Sky Mission Group Limited (RE#F AR BBR 2 7]), a company incorporated in the
BVI with limited liability on 12 February 2019 and wholly owned by Mr. Leung
Yam Cheung

AREBEBRERAR  —HR - NF A+ -_HERBRZFSTMARID
BRAR - YHREEEEZERA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEBMARIBRAA

Temmex Engineering Limited(KE T B A F)), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong on 21 October 1998 with limited liability and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

AREIRERAR  —HR-ANANFETAZT—BEFBEMALNBRA
ARRARREZEEENB AR

Temmex Brothers Engineering Limited (K& B ITEBRAF]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 9 October 2008 with limited liability and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

RERBIRBRAR  —HARZZEZENFTANBEREIMAZHNERA
AR RARARIEEEENEB AR

per cent.
Ao
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NEEHR
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

On behalf of the Board, I am glad to present the annual results of the
Group for FY2025 to our Shareholders.

REVIEW

The Group, an established formwork works subcontractor in Hong Kong
with over 20 years of operating history, has been offering traditional
formwork works services using timber and plywood, along with system
formwork works services with aluminium formwork.

The Group's revenue decreased significantly from HK$608.1 million
in FY2024 to HK$402.9 million in FY2025, representing a decline of
approximately 33.7%. The Group's gross profit margin also dropped from
approximately 1.4% in FY2024 to approximately 1.1% in FY2025. This
reduction was primarily due to the ongoing downturn in the Hong Kong
construction industry, driven by weaker private sector demand, delays
in public sector projects, and intensified competition, which negatively
impacted the pricing of new contracts.

The poor economic sentiment in Hong Kong has been influenced by
several factors, including reduced investment activity, and a slowdown
in property development projects. These conditions have led to a
highly competitive market where securing new contracts has become
increasingly challenging, and profit margins have been squeezed. The
impact of these economic conditions is expected to sustain a low gross
profit margin in the near term. However, the Group remains optimistic
and committed to prudently managing its operations. We will focus on
securing projects with stable gross profit margins to mitigate the effects
of the challenging market environment.

PROSPECT

Looking ahead, despite these industry challenges, we remain dedicated
to delivering value to our Shareholders and stakeholders. The Group
will continue to actively seek and identify opportunities that align with
our cost control and risk management policies. In FY2025, the Group
successfully secured 7 new projects, adding approximately HK$249.8
million in contract value. As of 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of
21 active projects with a combined contract value of at least HK$996.9
million. These projects are expected to ensure steady revenue for our
subcontracting works in the coming years.
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This strategic approach reflects our commitment to maintaining stability
and prudence in our operations while navigating the current economic
landscape. We are confident that by staying focused on our core strengths
and leveraging our extensive experience, we can overcome present
challenges and achieve sustainable growth.

APPRECIATION

The Group's achievements are attributable to the effective hard work of
all employees, the steadfast trust of partners, and the unwavering strong
support of Shareholders. On behalf of the Board, I would like to take
this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to our management
team, staff members, Shareholders, clients, suppliers, subcontractors and
business partners.

We will try our every best to overcome all such coming challenges by

our team efforts and to strive forward and create better returns for
Shareholders.

Leung Yam Cheung
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEFWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established formwork works subcontractor in Hong Kong
with over 20 years of operating history. During the year ended 31 March
2025 ("FY2025"), the Group continued to provide traditional formwork
services using timber and plywood, as well as system formwork services
using aluminum formwork.

In FY2025, the Group's revenue decreased from HK$608.1 million in for
the year ended 31 March 2024 ("FY2024") to HK$402.9 million. Our gross
profit margin declined from approximately 1.4% in FY2024 to nearly 1.1%
in FY2025. This reduction was primarily due to the ongoing downturn in
the Hong Kong construction industry, driven by weaker private sector
demand, delays in public sector projects, and intensified competition,
which negatively impacted the pricing of new contracts. Additionally,
the Group faced rising subcontracting costs and higher wages for skilled
workers, which further contributed to the decline in profitability. The
Group also incurred unexpected additional costs for site safety compliance
and project management, adding further pressure to operating expenses.
Delays in the processing of certain interim payment certification also
affected the Group's cash flow, creating additional challenges during the
year.

Additionally, our financial performance was influenced by a provision
for loss allowance on trade receivables and contract assets of
approximately HK$99.9 million, reflecting delays in payment collection
and financial difficulties faced by certain customers amid the challenging
macroeconomic environment. The Group adopted a more conservative
approach to assess credit risk, especially for aged receivables, resulting in
higher provisions for potential bad debts.

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a net loss and total
comprehensive expenses of approximately HK$105.4 million, compared to
a net loss of approximately HK$32.4 million in FY2024.

In FY2025, the Group successfully secured 7 new projects, adding
approximately HK$249.8 million in contract value. As of 31 March 2025,
the Group had a total of 21 active projects with a combined contract value
of at least HK$996.9 million. These projects are anticipated to ensure
steady performance for our subcontract works in the coming years.

Given the intensifying competition in the formwork industry and increasing
wage levels for formwork workers in Hong Kong, the Group is committed
to a prudent approach in tender preparation, ensuring a reasonable profit
margin is factored in. We will continue to identify suitable opportunities
aligned with our cost control and risk management policies and submit
tenders for potential projects.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During FY2025, the Group’s revenue decreased from HK$608.1 million in
FY2024 to HK$402.9 million. Set out below is the revenue breakdown of
the Group derived from public sector projects and private sector projects
during FY2024:

SRR E

1755 (o] A
A

RZE-AFHRFERN  AEEHKRAR
CTECNFEMHRFEEMNCS.1BEEA LA
FA029BEBTL c TXHEHINEAEBR-F
TFFBFERE AEHIIEE RILED
P9IE B MU A BRAE

Year ended 31 March

BEZA=t—-HLEE

2025 2024
—Z-haF ke S 122
No. of Percentage No. of Percentage
projects  Revenue ofrevenue  projects  Revenue of revenue
EA ERA
HEHE ' ON BEoLL HAHE WA Ekise
HK$'000 (%) HK$000 (%)
FET (%) T (%)
Public sector projects NEEFIEE 14 224,925 55.8 22 435967 7.7
Private sector projects FLEIBFIER 1 177,987 44.2 7 172,111 283
Total 85 25 402,912 100.0 29 608,078 100.0
Gross profit and gross profit margin EMRERZR

The Group's gross profit declined from approximately HK$8.7 million
in FY2024 to HK$4.3 million in FY2025, representing a decrease of
approximately 50.6%. Our gross profit margin also declined from
approximately 1.4% in FY2024 to nearly 1.1% in FY2025. This decline was
primarily due to weaker project performance, rising subcontracting costs,
and rising labor expenses.

[ NN — : : S=——_m—————

AEENENA S _NFFRFENLD
STEBA T ITRE_ZE-_AFHHRFEN
A3EEBIT  HIBX50.6% o I FEFI=E
MAE-ZE_NFHRFENN1 4% TTREZ

“HEVREENHTIA% X BEHNES
RERZIEEB RIS - D BEKAE A KRA
TITEBR -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEFWR DN

Administration and other operating expenses

The Group's administrative and other operating expenses decreased
from approximately HK$15.6 million in FY2024 to approximately HK$7.5
million in FY2025, representing a decrease of approximately 51.9%. This
was mainly due to cost cutting measures, including reduced staffing and
tighter controls on administrative costs.

Impairment loss recognised

No provision for impairment loss on property, plant, and equipment was
recognised for FY2025 (FY2024: HK$700,000).

In FY2025, the Group recognised a provision for expected credit loss (“ECL")
on trade receivables and contract assets amounting to approximately
HK$99.9 million (FY2024: HK$22.7 million). This sharp increase reflects
deteriorating macroeconomic conditions, payment delays, and heightened
credit risks for certain customers. The Group adopted a more conservative
approach to assess credit risk, factoring in the financial challenges faced
by customers in the construction industry. A detailed ageing analysis
of trade receivables (net of allowance for ECL) is set out note 18 in the
consolidated financial statements.

Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent external valuer, was
engaged to conduct ECL assessment.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs remained relatively stable, recording an amount
of HK$2.1 million in FY2025 (FY2024: HK$2.0 million) as a result of average
debt structure remain unchanged during FY2025.

Income tax expenses

The Group recorded an income tax expense of approximately HK$0.2
million, compared to income tax expenses of HK$0.1 million in FY2024.
The Group has no assessable income for the current financial year.

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year attributable
to owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a net loss and total
comprehensive expenses of approximately HK$105.4 million for FY2025,
compared to a net loss and total comprehensive expense of approximately
HK$32.4 million in FY2024, marking a year-on-year deterioration of
approximately 225.3%.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). This decision
reflects the Group's commitment to preserving financial reserves amid
challenging market conditions and ensuring sufficient liquidity to support
ongoing operations and future business opportunities.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group principally finances its operations from its business operations,
interest-bearing borrowings and equity contribution from Shareholders.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$257.1 million (31 March 2024: HK$350.9 million) and cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$665,000 (31 March 2024: HK$13.4 million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's total equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$253.0 million (31 March 2024:
HK$358.4 million), and the Group's total interest-bearing borrowings and
lease liabilities amounted to approximately HK$60.7 million which are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (31 March 2024: HK$55.0 million).

As of 31 March 2025, the Group's interest-bearing borrowing with a
carrying amounts of approximately HK$34.9 million and HK$17.2 million
(total: HK$52.1 million) as at 31 March 2025, the Group has breached
the financial covenants, which the Group’s consolidated earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortisation shall not at any time be
less than HK$30,000,000 and the Group's average deposit maintained
with the bank (as the lender) shall not be less than HK$10,000,000,
respectively. Due to the challenging economic conditions in the Hong
Kong property market, the Company has started the renegotiation the
terms of the borrowing with the relevant bank (as the lender). As at 31
March 2025 and up to the date of this report, although those negotiations
are still ongoing, the lender has not demanded immediate payment of the
interest-bearing borrowings and the Company assessed that the lender
would not demand immediate repayment in the 12 months period after
year end as the Company had maintained a good relationship with the
lender and the Company has repeatedly repaid and drawn down interest-
bearing borrowings under the same facilities during the year ended 31
March 2025.

The Directors are confident of reaching a successful conclusion. Should
immediate repayment be required, the Directors believe that adequate
internal and alternative financing sources are available to ensure the
Group's operations and ability to repay creditors remain unaffected.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEFWR DN

The Directors are confident that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet its obligations as they fall due for at least the next
twelve months from the end of 31 March 2025 and accordingly, our
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 29 September 2020, the Group'’s shares were successfully listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. There has been no change in the
capital structure of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group
only comprised of ordinary shares.

GEARING RATIO
As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio (calculated on the basis of total

interest-bearing borrowings divided by total equity of the Group) was
approximately 23.8% (31 March 2024: 15.0%).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no significant capital commitments as at 31 March 2025 (31
March 2024: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2025 (31 March 2024: Nil).

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

The Group had no charges on assets as at 31 March 2025 (31 March
2024 Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group does not have significant exposure on foreign currency risk
as most of the monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The management continues to monitor foreign exchange
risks and may consider suitable hedging instruments against significant
currency exposure should the need arises.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

TREASURY POLICY

The Group follows a prudent treasury policy, maintaining healthy liquidity
to meet operational needs and funding requirements. The Directors
closely monitor the liquidity position of the Group to ensure stability and
flexibility, enabling the Group to seize future growth opportunities when
they arise.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group principally operates in one business segment, which is
providing formwork works services in Hong Kong. Accordingly, no
business segment analysis is presented.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not hold any
significant investment held.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any future plans for material
investments or acquisitions of capital assets.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 1,249 employees (31 March
2024: 1,236). The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the
capabilities of its workforce by providing them with adequate and regular
training. The Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry
practices and individual's performance and experience. On top of regular
remuneration, discretionary bonus may be granted to eligible staff by
reference to the Group's performance as well as individual's performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no important events affecting the Group subsequent to 31
March 2025.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$0.4 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$1.2 million) were
included in the property, plant and equipment, and its lease liabilities
were approximately HK$0.4 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$1.3
million). The related right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are all located
in Hong Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (formerly known as Leung Wah Fei) (“Mr. Leung/
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung”), aged 67, is the chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer and an executive Director. He was appointed as a
Director on 31 May 2019 and re-designated as an executive Director and
the chairman of the Board on 4 November 2019. He has been appointed
as Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of Compliance Committee
on 22 September 2023 and a member of Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee on 28 June 2024. He is also a member of each of
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Leung
is primarily responsible for formulating the overall development strategies
and business plans, and overseeing the general management and daily
operations of the Group. Mr. Leung has been serving as a director of
all the operating subsidiaries, including Temmex, Temmex Brothers
and Kennex, since December 1998, October 2008, and March 2015,
respectively.

Mr. Leung commenced working as a formwork works apprentice and
has gained extensive working experience. Eventually, he started carrying
out the business of the Group through Temmex, Temmex Brothers and
Kennex.

Mr. Leung attended primary school in Shenzhen, China.

Mr. Leung is the father of Mr. Leung Wing Hoi and Mr. Leung Wing Chun
and the brother of Mr. Leung Chau Ming. Mr. Leung Wing Chun and Mr.
Leung Chau Ming are executive Directors.

He is the sole director and sole shareholder of Sky Mission, which
directly holds 75% of the Shares, as disclosed in the “Directors’ and Chief
Executive's Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares” section of the
Directors’ Report.

Mr. Leung Chau Ming

Mr. Leung Chau Ming (“Mr. CM Leung"), aged 60, is executive Director. He
was appointed as a Director on 22 September 2023. He is also a member
of ESG committee. Mr. CM Leung is primarily responsible for supervising
the project management and business operations of the Group. Mr.
Leung has extensive working experience of project managements and
business operations and is currently the owner of a local trading company.

Mr. CM Leung is the younger brother of Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (the
chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer and an executive
Director) and the uncle of Mr. Leung Wing Chun (an executive Director).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Leung Wing Chun

Mr. Leung Wing Chun (“Mr. WC Leung"), aged 40, is an executive Director.
He was appointed as a Director and re-designated as an executive
Director on 4 November 2019. He has been appointed as the Chairman
of Environmental, Social and Governance Committee on 28 June 2024. He
is also @ member of the Compliance Committee. Mr. WC Leung is mainly
responsible for overseeing the overall project management and the
operations of the business of the Group.

Mr. WC Leung underwent his apprenticeship as a personal assistant to
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung from July 2002 to May 2013. Mr. WC Leung then
joined the Group as a project manager of Temmex since June 2013, and
is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising various projects
of Temmex and acts as the key point of contact at work sites. After four
years of training as a project manager, he was promoted and has been a
director of Temmex Brothers since July 2017.

Mr. WC Leung obtained his Certificate of Safety Supervisor (Construction
Industry) issued by Origin Production Limited trading as The Hong Kong
Safety Training Association in April 2007.

Mr. WC Leung is a son of Mr. Leung Yam Cheung, a younger brother of
Mr. WH Leung and a nephew of Mr. CM Leung. Mr. Leung Yam Cheung
is the chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and an executive
Director. Mr. CM Leung is an executive Director.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang

Mr. Yau Sheung Hang (formerly known as Yau Ngan Fei) (“Mr. Yau"), aged
51, is a non-executive Director. He was appointed as a Director and re-
designated as a non-executive Director on 4 November 2019. Mr. Yau is
mainly responsible for providing strategic advice to the Broad.

Mr. Yau has gained over 16 years of experience in audit, tax, accounting
and company secretarial matters. In this regard, he worked as an audit
clerk at Simon Choy & Co. from May 2009 to March 2013 and a senior
audit manager at W.H. Shum & Co. from November 2017 to November
2018. He is a shareholder (who owns as to 50%) and since June 2007 has
been a director of Charmway Strategic Limited (formerly known as Global
Prospect Limited, which was the former corporate secretary of each of
(i) Temmex from October 2010 to August 2018; (ii) Temmex Brothers
from October 2008 to August 2018; and (iii) Kennex from March 2015 to
January 2019). Mr. Yau was the sole director of Harold Accounting Services
Limited from April 2016 to June 2021.

Mr. Yau obtained his bachelor of arts degree in translation from the
Lingnan College Hong Kong (now known as the Lingnan University)
in November 1997, and his master of science degree in professional
accounting and corporate governance from the City University of Hong
Kong in February 2009. Mr. Yau has been a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since October 2017.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun

Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun (“Mr. Tang"), aged 43, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 22 September 2023. He is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Tang received a bachelor degree of Commerce with Accounting
concentration from Carleton University in Canada in June 2005. Mr.
Tang became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in May 2011.

Mr. Tang worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from February 2011 to
December 2014 and from September 2015 to July 2016, with his final
position being audit manager. From August 2016 to February 2020, Mr.
Tang served as the financial controller at Chiho Environmental Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 976). From June 2023 to February 2025, Mr. Tang served as Financial
controller and company secretary at Numans Health Food Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 2530). Since September 2021, he has been
a partner at Linkers CPA Limited.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Wu Kin Yi

Ms. Wu Kin Yi (“Ms. Wu"), aged 38, jointed the Company as an independent
non-executive Director on 15 February 2024. She is a chairlady of the
remuneration committee, a member of audit committee and nomination
committee. She has also been appointed as a member of Environmental,
Social and Governance Committee since 28 June 2024.

Ms. Wu obtained her bachelor degree of Arts majoring in International
Trading and Economics from Peking University in July 2009. Ms. Wu is
also a Certified Public Accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

Ms. Wu, is currently the sole practitioner of Dynamic Dragons & Co,
a CPA firm which provides auditing and accounting services in Hong
Kong. Ms. Wu also has profound experience in business operations and
management in which she is the owner of an education center in Hong
Kong which has been established in 2012. Ms. Wu worked at KPMG China
from July 2009 to June 2013 as an auditor with her final position as an
assistant audit manager.

Mr. Lei Nelson

Mr. Lei Nelson (“Mr. Lei"), aged 37, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director on 15 November 2024. He is the Chairman
of Nomination Committee and a member of Audit Committee and
Compliance Committee.

Mr. Lei is a certified public accountant of American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and also certified as certified management accountant
of the Institute of Management Accountants. Mr. Lei holds a bachelor
degree of arts in applied mathematics and statistics from University of
California, Berkeley. He also has a master degree of science in electronic
commerce and internet computing from the University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Lei has over 10 years of working experience in accounting, risk
management and asset management. Mr. Lei is currently the executive
director of Sau San Tong Holdings Limited (stock code: 8200) since July
2023. During the period from 20 November 2023 to 14 March 2025, Mr.
Lei was the Company Secretary and Authorised Representative of hmvod
Limited (a company listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8103).
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Corporate Governance Report
EERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieving and maintaining
high standards of corporate governance, as the Board believes that good
and effective corporate governance practices are fundamental to obtain
and maintain the trust and safeguarding interest of the Shareholders
and other stakeholders of the Company. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted sound corporate governance principles that emphasise a
quality Board, effective internal control, stringent disclosure practices and
transparency, and accountability to all stakeholders.

The corporate value of the Company is to serve the Company's customers
in lawful, ethical and responsible manner. All Directors act with integrity
and promote the culture of integrity. Such culture instils and continually
reinforces across the corporate values. During the year, the Board
closely monitors the implementation of corporate governance practice,
risk management and internal control systems to ensure the corporate
objective, values and strategy and the Company's culture are aligned.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions as set out in
the CG Code as the Company's corporate governance code. In the opinion
of the Board, the Company has fully complied with the CG Code for the
year ended 31 March 2025. The Board will, from time to time, review and
enhance its corporate governance practices to ensure that the Company
continues to meet the requirements of the CG Code.

The key corporate governance practices of the Group are summarised as
follows:

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders for their leadership and
supervision over the Group's operation and is committed to achieving the
goal of increasing Shareholders' value. The Board currently comprises
three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report

Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (Chairman and CEQO)
Mr. Leung Wing Chun
Mr. Leung Chau Ming

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin
(Resigned effective from 15 November 2024)
Ms. Wu Kin Yi
Mr. Lei Nelson
(Appointed on 15 November 2024)

Biographical details of the Directors including relationship between
Board members are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 17 to 21 of this annual
report. Mr. Lei was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 15 November 2024. Mr. Lei had obtained legal advice pursuant to
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules and confirmed that he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer on 31 October 2024.

The current proportion of independent non-executive Director is in
compliance with Rule 3.10A and 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules whereby an
issuer must appoint independent non-executive directors representing
at least one-third of the board and the board must include at least
three independent non-executive directors. The Company has three
independent non-executive Directors, which represents more than one-
third of the Board. The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules of having at least one of the independent non-executive
directors that has appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

With the various experience of the Directors and the nature of the Group's
business, the Board considered that the Directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the Group.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to article 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years.

Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Articles, the Directors shall have the power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an additional to the
existing Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office until the next
following annual general meeting of Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election.

Each Director (including non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors) has entered into a service contract or letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of 3 years commencing
from the Listing Date and shall be subject to retirement by rotation once
every three years.

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Leung Yam Cheung, Mr. Leung
Wing Chun and Mr. Lei Nelson will retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election. At the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company, separate ordinary resolutions will be put forward to
the Shareholders in relation to the proposed re-election of all retired
Directors.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company's affairs.
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All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage to protect
Directors from possible legal action against them. The insurance coverage
would be reviewed on an annual basis.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the
Board as they bring an impartial view on the Company's strategies,
performance and control, as well as to ensure that the interests of all
Shareholders are taken into account. The requirement regarding the
representation of independent non-executive Directors is, that there must
be more than one-third of the members of the Board with at least one
of them having appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. None of the independent non-
executive Directors held any other offices in the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed in writing
his independence from the Company in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. On this basis, the Company considers all such Directors to
be independent.
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The Board has implemented different ways to ensure independent views
available to the Board. With different experiences and expertises, the
independent non-executive Directors supervise and provide independent
judgement to the Board on strategic and significant matters. The Board
seeks to develop an effective working environment for the executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive Directors so as to improve
the quality of the decisions made by the Board without constraining
the independent views of the independent non-executive Directors.
Regular Board meetings were held during FY2025 with open discussions
between the executive, non-executive and the independent non-executive
Directors to enhance communication and effective working relationship.
Furthermore, no equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive Directors as this
may lead to bias in their decision-making. In addition, all Directors are
entitled to seek further information from the management on the matters
to be discussed at Board meetings and where necessary, independent
advice from external profession advisers at the Company's expenses.
A Director who has material interest in a contract, transaction or
arrangement shall not vote or to be counted in the quorum on any Board
resolution approving the same. The Board had reviewed the effectiveness
of the Group’s mechanism to ensure independent views and inputs being
available to the Board for FY2025, and considered it effective.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Since 22 September 2023, Mr. Leung
Yam Cheung performed his duties as both the chairman and CEO
subsequent to the resignation of Mr. Leung Wing Hoi. Mr. Leung Yam
Cheung had been in charge of the overall management of the Group
since 2019 and the Company considered that such arrangement would
promote the efficient formulation and implementation of the Company's
strategies which would enable the Group to further develop its businesses
effectively at this stage. The Board will review the current structure from
time to time and shall make necessary arrangements when the Board
considers appropriate.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

EEgRERTRANBRESQESE YL
BR - BUIHTES REETHRALRT
BEMGY O EBUYREBEMERNEZERN
EECREBIHE  cEFTg kAT
EE  FRTBEENBUIFRTEZLEEE
M TIERE - UETRHIB L IERITES
BRBUEANBITRSESSRENE
X T hFWBFECAAECHESS
F MRMTES - ERTESEBUIEN
TEERB®H 0 UINREBRMEAERER
M TIERER - BF - RO TERBILIERNTT
EERHMSRIBEIEITEL AR A B EH
ZEB - BRSBTS S ERRNE
EIREE - AN B ESZHERRESRS Y
FLAMcEEATEERREZER » I
EEFEERMIITEXEMSREILE
MY HARREE - RAEY KPR HEF
BEERERSZEETEHRMEZED R
SPRLRH 2 EMESESRERIEENGAE
FEAH - EFCEMFTAEEE S B
WHER - E-_AFURFEESTSESE L
B RER  UWRABBEEHER -

TR RAITHRAER

PEEETAZ FAEXEC2VERE - *
FHITHREH c ACERERD + W AEH—
ARARRE B2 =_=FNLA=-+=H "
RAEFLEERLEEFRTRRARETE
FBRITHEHBE - REFLEE =N
FR-EBELAEENEEBER  MART
REEBLEBRETSRSEREERQR
RISRES - [FANSEE AL L EE — A
BRAXE BEFSHIRRIRITER -
WHRERBEERERLER -



e S s : : e —-

Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS' CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample
continuing professional development for the Directors for a sound and
effective internal control system and corporate governance. In this
regard, the Group has always encouraged the Directors to attend relevant
training courses to receive the latest news and knowledge regarding
corporate governance, in order to effectively perform their responsibilities
and to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director had received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally
facilitated briefings for Directors were arranged and reading materials on
relevant topics were provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company's
expenses.
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The records of continuous professional development relating to director’s
duties, regulatory and governance updates and business development
that have been received by the Directors for FY2025 are summarised as
follows:

Name of Directors

EEN T _RFVYHREEMETEHRES
BE EELEARNERREBZEROE
BEEEERREREY SO T

Type of Training Nete)

BEHE B R )

Executive Directors: WMITESE

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung RAERESEE A B

Mr. Leung Wing Chun R E A B

Mr. Leung Chau Ming AL A A B

Non-executive Director: FEMITES -

Mr. Yau Sheung Hang s A B

Independent Non-executive Directors: BIUIFHITES -

Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun BFEESE A B

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin BEBSTE A B
(reigned effective from 15 November 2024) (B =—ZF—m&F+—H+ 7 AEFHT)

Ms. Wu Kin Yi Ll =S A B

Mr. Lei Nelson FIRETE A B

(appointed on 15 November 2024)
Note:
Types of Training:

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops

B. Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five Board committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Compliance Committee and the ESG Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company's affairs. All Board committees have
been established with defined written terms of reference. An updated list
of the Directors identifying their roles and functions is posted on the Stock
Exchange's website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company's website
at www.skymission.group and in compliance with code provision B.1.2.
All Board committees should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform
their duties and each Director, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance, at the
Company's expenses.

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions such as developing and reviewing the Company's
policies and practices on corporate governance, carrying out training and
continuous professional development of the Directors, reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, reviewing the code of conduct applicable
to the Directors, and reviewing the Company's compliance with the code
provisions in the CG Code and disclosures in this Corporate Governance
Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

According to code provision C.5.1 of CG Code, regular Board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. During FY2025, a total of 4 Board meetings and 1 general
meeting were held. During FY2025, the chairman also held 3 meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors.
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Details of all Directors’ attendance at general meeting, Board meetings 2EEZHER T -_AFFRFERTZ

and Board's committee meetings held during FY2025 are set out below: BRERE BEFeeINEFLEEeE
AIRHEINAT
Number of Meetings Attended/Held
BHiE/ BTEERY
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination ~ Compliance ESG
General Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
E22  ENZEE  HMEEE  REZEE  ARZEE [SGEEE
eV g3 g3 L . EE g3
Executive Directors: HIES:
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung REFRE 101 44 N/ATNEFR Wy 12 i N
Mr. Leung Wing Chun PEERE /1 414 NAMER NATMER NATER /1 10
Mr. Leung Chau Ming Py 111 414 NANER NANER NANER NANER 171
Non-executive Director: FHES
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang R i 44 N/ATER N/ATREF NIATE N/ATRE R N/ATRE R
Independent Non-executive  BUIHTES :
Directors:
Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun i n 44 33 0 NATER N/ATER NATER
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin LRERY 01 n 22 NIMVNER 1L i N/AT R
(resigned effective from (B-FE-JmE
15 November 2024) +-A+RAEEF)
Ms. Wu Kin Vi il e 7N 414 33 20 Wy NATER 17N
M. Lei Nelson FHELL N/ARER Wil N N/ATER N/ARER NIARER NATER
(appointed on (R=F-HF
15 November 2024) A+ BAEER)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group established the Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution
of the Directors passed on 7 September 2020 in compliance with Rule
3.21 and Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which mandate that the Audit
Committee must comprise non-executive directors only, comprising a
minimum of three members. The majority of the members of the Audit
Committee must be independent non-executive Directors and must be
chaired by an independent non-executive Director; and at least one of
the members of the Audit Committee is an independent non-executive
Director who possesses appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

Written terms of reference of the Audit Committee in compliance with
code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code have been adopted and are posted
on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company's website. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to make recommendations to the Board
on appointment or reappointment and removal of external auditor; review
the financial statements of the Group and make judgements in respect
of financial reporting; and oversee the effectiveness of the procedures of
the risk management and internal control procedures of the Group and
monitor any future and/or potential continuing connected transactions.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun, Mr. Lei Nelson and Ms. Wu
Kin Yi. Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During FY2025, the Audit Committee held three meetings and the
summary of work performed is set out below:

(i) reviewed the reports from the auditor, accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, management representation letters
and management’s response in relation to the annual results for
FY2025;

(i)  reviewed the consolidated financial statements for FY2025 in
conjunction with the management and the auditor;

(i) made recommendation to the Board on re-appointment of auditor;
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(iv) reviewed the Company's internal control procedures and risk
management system and recommend the same to the Board for

approval; and

(v) reviewed the condensed consolidated financial statements for the
six months ended 30 September 2024.

The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for FY2025 comply with applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been
made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Group established the Remuneration Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 7 September 2020 in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code and are posted on
the Stock Exchange's website and the Company's website.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all Directors, senior management and general staff of
the Group and ensure that none of the Directors or any of their associates
determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, one executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung
Yam Cheung, Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun and Ms. Wu Kin Yi. Ms. Wu Kin Yi is the
chairlady of the Remuneration Committee.

During FY2025, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings and the
summary of work performed is set out below:

(i)  determined and made recommendation to the Board on the terms
of letters of appointment of newly appointed Directors during
FY2025;

(i)  reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy; and

(iii)

assessed performance of the Directors and senior management and
their remuneration packages.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Group’s policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management and other remuneration related matters are disclosed on
page 20 of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report. Details of
the remuneration of the senior management by band are set out in the
paragraph headed “Emoluments of Directors and Senior Management
and Five Highest Paid Individuals” of the Directors’ Report of this annual
report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Group established the Nomination Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 7 September 2020 with written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1 of the CG
Code and are posted on the Stock Exchange's website and the Company’s
website.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size, composition, diversity of the Board and the board diversity
policy adopted by the Company on 7 September 2020 (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on a regular basis; implement the Board Diversity Policy
and identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
appointment or reappointment of Directors. The Board has also adopted a
board nomination policy (the “Board Nomination Policy”) on 7 September
2020, which sets out the selection criteria and process, and succession
planning considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of the
Directors.

Throughout the FY2025, the Company had met Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules requirement of having a majority of the committee members being
independent non-executive Directors and having the committee chaired
by the independent non-executive Director.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, one executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung
Yam Cheung, Mr. Lei Nelson and Ms. Wu Kin Yi. Mr. Lei Nelson is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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According to the Board Diversity Policy and the Director Nomination Policy,
the Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board composition
and makes recommendations of changes to the composition of the Board.
The Nomination Committee would consider the benefits of all aspects of
diversity set out in the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination
Policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural, educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service and other qualities in reviewing and assessing the
composition of the Board, and all appointments to the Board will be based
on merits and will take into account of factors based on the Company's
own business model and specific needs from time to time.

During FY2025, the Nomination Committee held two meetings and the
summary of work performed is set out below:

() reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

(i)  determined and made recommendation to the Board on the
appointment of Directors;

(i) assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

and

made recommendations to the Board on the elections of Directors at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 20 September
2024,

(iv)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 7 September 2020
which will be reviewed annually to ensure its proper implementation and
effectiveness. The Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all
aspects of its business and does not discriminate on the grounds of race,
gender, disability, nationality, religious or philosophical belief, age, sexual
orientation, family status or any other factor.
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The purpose of the Board Diversity Policy is to enhance the effectiveness
of the Board, maintain a high standard of corporate governance, and
recognise and embrace the benefits of diversity in the Board. Pursuant
to the Board Diversity Policy, candidates to the Board will be selected
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, length of service, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience. The ultimate decision of the appointment will
be based on merit and the contribution which the selected candidates
will bring to the Board. The Board believes that such merit-based
appointments will be enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and
other stakeholders going forward.

The Company values gender diversity and will continue to take steps to
promote gender diversity at all levels of the Company’s workforce and to
develop a pipeline of potential successors, including but without limitation
at the Board, recognising that gender diversity at the Board level can be
improved given its current composition of six male Directors and one
female Director. In recognising the importance of gender diversity, the
Company is committed to provide career development opportunities for
female staff by ensuring that there is gender diversity in staff recruitment
at the mid to senior levels, and more resources will be devoted in training
female staff who have extensive and relevant experiences in the business,
with the aim that we will have a pipeline of female senior management
and potential successors to the Board. As female representation and
the pool of qualified females in senior roles will keep growing through
the economy, we expect to have more female representation on the
Board in the future. Subject to the development and the requirement
of the business of the Company, the Company has confirmed that
the Nomination Committee shall continue to apply the principle of
appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity Policy
as awhole.

In view of the business nature of the Group (i.e. the formwork works
subcontractor), an industry which is more dominant by male traditionally,
as at 31 March 2025, approximately 86% of Directors and senior
management and 97% of our total workforce were male. However,
while the Group pursues equal job opportunities for male and female in
recruitment and staff development, we will continue with our endeavor to
increase female representation to a higher ratio in our workforce in the
future.
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The effective implementation of the Board Diversity Policy requires that
the Shareholders are able to judge for themselves whether the Board
as constituted is a reflection of diversity, or a gradual move to increased
diversity, on a scale and at a speed which they support. To this end, the
Shareholders will be provided with detailed information of each candidate
for appointment or re-election to the Board through announcements and
circulars published prior to the general meetings of the Company.

The Board, with the assistance of the Nomination Committee will be
responsible for the implementation, monitoring and periodic review of
the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and application. A
summary of the Board Diversity Policy and the measurable objectives
which the Board has set for implementing the same, and the progress
on achieving those objects, have been disclosed above and will continue
to be disclosed in the corporate governance reports of the Company
annually.

The Board consists of seven members, comprising three executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Directors have a balanced mix of experiences,
including but not limited to project managements and business
operations, leadership and management, legal, audit, accounting and
company secretarial matters in addition to experiences in the construction
industry. Furthermore, the age range of the Board ranges from 37 years
old to 67 years old. We also have a good mix of new and experienced
Directors, such that the executive Directors have been part of the Group
for between 6 and 27 years, who have valuable knowledge and insight
on the Group's business over the years, while the other Directors are
expected to bring in fresh ideas and new perspectives to the Group. The
Board currently has one female representation, consisting of a Director of
a different gender. The Board believes that the composition of the Board
satisfies the principles under the Board Diversity Policy.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on 7 September 2020. The Nomination Policy is to ensure that
the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The summary of the Nomination Policy including nomination procedures
and the process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to
select and recommend candidate for directorship are as follows:

Director Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee utilises various methods for identifying
candidates for directorship, including recommendations from Board
members, management, and professional headhunt agency. In addition,
the Nomination Committee will consider candidates for directorship
properly submitted by the Shareholders.

All candidates for directorship, including incumbents and candidates
nominated by the Shareholders are evaluated by the Nomination
Committee based upon the candidates’ qualifications, as summarised
below. While candidates for directorship will be evaluated on the same
criteria, the Nomination Committee retains the discretion to establish
the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary based on the
composition, skill sets, and experiences of the collective Board rather than
on the individual candidate.

The evaluation of candidates for directorship may include, without
limitation, the following:

() review of resume and job history;
(i)  personal interviews;
(iiiy  verification of professional background and personal referral; and

(iv) conduct background checks.

The Board will consider the recommendations of the Nomination
Committee and is responsible for designating the candidate(s) for
directorship to be considered by the Shareholders for their election at the
general meeting of the Company, or appointing the suitable candidate to
act as Director to fill the Board vacancies or as an additional to the Board
members, subject to compliance of the constitutional document of the
Company.
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All appointments of the Directors should be confirmed by letter of
appointment and/or service contract setting out the key terms and
conditions of the appointment of the Directors.

Director Selection Criteria

In considering the nomination of candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will take into account whether a candidate has
the qualifications, skills and experience, gender diversity, etc. that can add
to and complement the range of skills, experience and background of
existing Directors.

The Nomination Committee considers the following qualifications as a
minimum to be required for a candidate in recommending to the Board to
be a potential new Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

(i)  the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

(i) proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and the
ability to exercise sound business judgment;

(iii)  skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

(iv)  the ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company's success;

(v) an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required
for a member of the Board and the commitment of time and energy
necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities; and

(vi) independence: the candidates for independent non-executive
directorship should meet the independence criteria as required
under the Listing Rules and the composition of the Board in
conformity with the provisions of the Listing Rules.

Other than the foregoing, there are no stated minimum criteria for
candidate for directorship, although the Nomination Committee may also
consider such other factors as it may deem are in the best interests of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole. For instance, the Nomination
Committee believes that it is appropriate for at least one independent
non-executive Director to have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as required under
the Listing Rules.
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Board Succession Plan

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on
the Board has been created or is expected due to a Director's death,
resignation, retirement, disqualification, removal from office or other
cause or due to an increase in the authorised number of Directors as
required.

Depending on the circumstances, the Nomination Committee with
the assistance of the management of the Company may endeavor to
identify in advance one or more candidates who may fill those expected
vacancies. The Nomination Committee develops the criteria to be applied
in identifying candidates, based upon the considerations described above.

The Company reviews the Nomination Policy on an annual basis having
regard to the regulatory requirements, good corporate governance
practice and the expectations of the Shareholders and other stakeholders
of the Company.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Group established the Compliance Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 7 September 2020 with written
terms of reference and are posted on the Stock Exchange's website and
the Company's website.

The primary duties of the Compliance Committee are to ensure
compliance with regulatory matters as well as the adequacy and
effectiveness of reqgulatory compliance procedures and system.

The Compliance Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Leung
Yam Cheung, Mr. Leung Wing Chun and Mr. Lei Nelson. Mr. Leung Yam
Cheung is the chairman of the Compliance Committee.

During FY2025, the Compliance Committee met once and the summary of
work performed is set out below:

(i) liaised with relevant government authorities and statutory bodies to
ensure proper compliance of the Group;

(i) ensured compliance with the Company’s internal control procedure
manual and the relevant safety policies, and make relevant
compliance-related recommendations to the Board from time to
time;
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

made recommendations on review measures to the Board to
improve the health and safety of workers of the Group and to
monitor the safety policy, procedures and systems of the Group;

reviewed and approved report from relevant party(ies) which
certifies that the Company has put in place compliance policies and
controls and report on the content and action plan for any remedial
measures necessary to address gaps;

ensured compliance with the requirements of the publication of
financial information of the Company in accordance with the Listing
Rules;

reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

ensured that key employees have been trained on the details of
the Company's internal control procedure manual and the relevant
safety policies;

reviewed the Company's compliance with the CG Code and the
ESG Reporting Guide as set out in the Listing Rules; prepared and
submitted a summary report every half-yearly to the Board on the
overall compliance performance and corporate governance practices
of the Group. A copy of the summary report was sent to the Audit
Committee for its information; and

reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and made recommendations on
review measures for the Board's consideration and approval.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Group established the ESG Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 7 September 2020 with written terms of reference
and are posted on the Stock Exchange's website and the Company's
website.

The primary duties of the ESG Committee are to support the Board in
implementing the ESG Policy and collect ESG data from different parties
while preparing for the Group's ESG report for each financial year going
forward. It also serves as a supportive role and would report directly to
the Board regularly, and oversee and monitor in implementing measures
to address the Group's ESG-related risks and responsibilities.

The ESG Committee consists of four members, namely Mr. Leung Wing
Chun, Mr. Leung Yam Cheung, Mr. Leung Chau Ming and Ms. Wu Kin Yi.
Mr. Leung Wing Chun is the chairman of the ESG Committee.

During FY2025, the ESG Committee met once and the summary of work
performed is set out below:

(i) supported the Board in implementing the ESG policies and collecting
the ESG data from different parties while preparing the ESG Report;

(i) ensured that the ESG targets, strategies and polices agreed by the
Board are effectively implemented by the employees;

(i) reported to the Board on the ESG performance of the Group on a
quarterly basis on the effectiveness of these systems;

(iv) provided updates to the Board on the latest ESG statutory
requirements;

(v)  prepared the ESG Report, and to obtain assistance from relevant
professional parties equipped with ESG expertise, in accordance with

the ESG Reporting Guide; and

(vi) investigated the ESG-related activity within its terms of reference.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng King Yip (“Mr. Cheng"), was appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 15 September 2023. The Chairman and CEO
of the Company, Mr. Leung Yam Cheung, is the primary contact person
to Mr. Cheng at the Company in respect of any compliance and company
secretarial matters of the Company. The Company Secretary reports to
the Board. From time to time, all Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary on corporate governance and board
practices and matters.

During FY2025, Mr. Cheng have undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for preparing the
accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the results and cash flow
for FY2025. In preparing the accounts for FY2025, the Directors have:

(i) selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them
consistently;

(i)~ made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable;
and
(i)  prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

A statement by the Auditor about the Directors’ reporting responsibilities
is included in the Independent Auditor's Report on page 68.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSATIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the Directors and
the Company's employees who, because of their offices or employments,
are likely to possess inside information in relation to the Company and/or
its securities. Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
fully complied with the Model Code during FY2025.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge that they have overall responsibility for
overseeing the Company's internal control, financial control and risk
management system and shall monitor its effectiveness on an ongoing
basis. The Group has an internal audit function and a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems has
been conducted by the Board at least annually.

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material errors, losses
or fraud, the Company has established a risk management procedure
which comprised the following steps:

e Identify risks: Identify major and significant risks (including but not
limited to risks relating to ESG and climate change) that could affect
the achievement of goals of the Group;

e  Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk (including
but not limited to ESG and climate change risks) according to its
likely impact and the likelihood of occurrence; and

e  Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate the
risks (including but not limited to ESG and climate change risks).

Risk identification and assessment are performed or updated annually,
and the results of risk assessment, evaluation and mitigation of
each function or operation are documented in the Risk Registry to
communicate to the Board and management for reviews. The Group has
also established procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, whereby business units shall report
to the Chief Executive Officer or the Company Secretary of any potential
inside information. The Chief Executive Officer or the Company Secretary
shall follow the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information issued
by the Securities and Futures Commission in considering whether any
disclosure is required and shall seek legal advice where necessary.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are, however,
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The management assists the Board regularly in the implementation of the
Group's policies, procedures and limits within the Board's approved risk
appetite by identifying and assessing the risks faced and monitoring the
design and operation of the relevant internal control measures to mitigate
and control these risks. The Company has adopted an anti-corruption
policy and whistleblowing policy and the relevant systems, in particular,
a system for employees and other relevant parties who deal with the
Company to raise concerns, in confidential and anonymity, with the Audit
Committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to the
Company, in order to strengthen its internal control.

The Board has conducted review on the Company's risk management and
internal control systems in respect of FY2025 and considered that they are
effective and adequate. The Board considered the Company had complied
with the code provisions on internal control and risk management of the
CG Code.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During FY2025, the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor
of the Company, Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited and its affiliated company,
in respect of the audit and non-audit services (include agreed upon
procedure and tax compliance service) for FY2025 amounted HK$1.0
million (statutory audit services of the Company and subsidiaries of
HK$600,000 and HK$400,000 respectively) and HK$336,600 respectively.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

One of the measures to safequard Shareholders’ interest and rights is
to separate resolutions proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election and re-election of individual
Directors, for Shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put
forward at shareholders’ meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the
Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be posted on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company after the relevant Shareholders'
meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the Board on
requisition of Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company or by such Shareholders who made the requisition
(the "Requisitionists”) (as the case may be) pursuant to article 58 of the
Articles of Association. Such requisition must state the object of business
to be transacted at the meeting and must be signed by the Requisitionists
and deposited at the registered office of the Company or the Company'’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong. Shareholders should follow the
requirements and procedures as set out in such article for convening an
extraordinary general meeting.

Shareholders may put forward proposals with general meeting of the
Company by sending the proposals to the Company at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Flat 3, 7/F., Yuen Long Trade
Centre, 99-109 Castle Peak Road, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands for putting forward proposals of new
resolutions by Shareholders at general meetings. Shareholders who wish
to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph to consider the business specified in the requisition.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. Shareholders may send written
enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Flat 3, 7/F., Yuen Long Trade Centre,
99-109 Castle Peak Road, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong.
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The Company has in place “Procedures for Shareholder to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director” adopted by the Board on 7 September
2020, which is subject to the Company's Memorandum and Articles of
Association in force from time to time, the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and applicable legislation and regulation:

e If a Shareholder, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the
general meeting convened to deal with the appointment or election/
re-election of Director(s), wishes to propose a person for election as
a Director at that meeting, he/she may lodge a written notice at the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Flat 3, 7/F,,
Yuen Long Trade Centre, 99 - 109 Castle Peak Road, Yuen Long, New
Territories, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

e Inorder for the Company to inform all Shareholders of that proposal,
the written notice must state (i) his/her intention to propose such
person for election as a Director, and (ii) the biographical details of
such nominated candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules for publication by the Company and be signed by the
Shareholder concerned and the person who has been proposed
indicating his/her willingness to be elected and consent of the
publication of his/her personal information.

e  The period for lodgement of the above notice shall be a 7-day
period commencing on the day after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election of Director(s) and
ending on the date falling 7 days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

e Upon receipt of the above notice from a Shareholder which
is received after publication of the notice of general meeting,
the Company shall, prior to the general meeting, publish an
announcement or issue a supplementary circular disclosing the
particulars of the proposed Director pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Shareholders who have enquiries regarding the above procedures may

write to the Company Secretary at Flat 3, 7/F., Yuen Long Trade Centre,
99-109 Castle Peak Road, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company has adopted a shareholders communication policy aiming
to set out the provisions with the objective of providing Shareholders and
other stakeholders with information about the Company and enabling
them to engage actively with the Company and exercise their rights as
Shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company has established several channels to communicate with its
Shareholders and other stakeholders as follows:

(i)  Corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports
and circulars are issued in printed form and are available on
the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the
Company’'s website at www. skymission.group;

(i) Periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

(i) Corporate information is made available on the Company's website;

(iv)  Annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for
the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management; and

(v)  The Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company serves the
Shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment and
related matters.

The Company continues to promote investor relations and enhance
communication with the existing Shareholders and other stakeholders
including potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, the
public and other stakeholders. Enquiries to the Board or the Company
may be sent by post to the Company's principal place of business in Hong
Kong.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy conducted during FY2025 and
considered the policy effective as it is able to facilitate an open and
ongoing communication with the Shareholders and other stakeholders on
fair disclosure basis.

There had been no significant change to the Company's constitutional
documents during FY2025. The Articles of Association is available on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company's website.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2025.

SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated on 31 May 2019 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 29 September
2020. For details of the share offer, please refer to the Prospectus.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

As disclosed in the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2023, all
net proceeds from the Listing has been fully utilised as at 31 March 2023
which were used according to the intentions previously disclosed by the
Company in the Prospectus.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in provision of formwork works services in Hong
Kong. The details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in
note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. There was no significant
change in the Group's principal activities during FY2025.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability on 31 May 2019. The Company's registered office is located
at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY-1111,
Cayman Islands. The Company's principal place of business is situated at
Flat 3, 7/F., Yuen Long Trade Centre, 99-109 Castle Peak Road, Yuen Long,
New Territories, Hong Kong.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION
In preparation for the Listing, the Group underwent a reorganisation. For

details of the reorganisation please refer to the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's performance for FY2025 by operating segment
is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 7
September 2020. The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board
maintains an appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. Accordingly, the Dividend Policy aims
to allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits whilst
preserving the Company's liquidity to capture future growth opportunities.

According to the Dividend Policy, the declaration and recommendation
of dividends is subject to the decision of the Board after considering the
Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon the following
factors:

e the Group's financial results;

° the Group's cashflow;

e the Group's Shareholders' interest;

e general business conditions and strategies;

e the Group's current and future operations;

e the Group's liquidity and capital requirements;

*  taxation considerations;

e  statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

e any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a dividend,
and subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable. Even if the
Board decides to recommend and pay dividends, the form, frequency
and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual

restrictions and other factors of and affecting the Group.

The Board may also consider declaring special dividends from time to
time, in addition to the interim and/or final dividends.

The Board will continue to review and reassess the Dividend Policy and its
effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group's loss for FY2025 and the Group's financial position as at 31
March 2025 are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
71 to 187 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend, at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company, the payment of a final dividend (2024: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be held on
Thursday, 28 August 2025 (the “AGM"). To determine the entitlement of
the Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Monday, 25 August 2025 to Thursday,
28 August 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to attend and vote
at the AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F., Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 22 August 2025. The record date for ascertaining
Shareholders' entitlement to attend and vote at the meeting is Thursday,
28 August 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the Group's business for FY2025 and the discussion on the
Group's future business development are set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 8 to 9 and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 10 to 16 of this annual report. The description of
principal risks and uncertainties the Group is facing and key performance
indicators are set out in the section headed, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report. The financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to minimising the adverse impact to the
environment caused by business operations. In order to comply with
the applicable environmental protection laws and regulations, the
Group established an environmental management policy to ensure
proper management of environmental protection and compliance of
environmental laws and regulations by both employees and workers
of the subcontractors on, among others, air pollution, noise control
and waste disposal. The Group will continue to reduce the impacts of
its operation on the environment and continue to make efforts to save
energy.

The Company's 2025 environmental, social and governance report will be
available on our website on the same date as the publication date of this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During FY2025, there was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulation by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group treasures the relationship with all of its stakeholders and
attempts to engage them through different initiatives. Human capital is
the most valuable asset of the Group. The Group provides and reviews
regularly the remuneration packages, training programmes, and staff
engagement activities to keep it competitive and to attract, nurture and
retain talents and employees.

A long-term good relationship with business partners (as well as suppliers
and customers) brings benefits for the Group and is important in
accomplishing its immediate and long-term goals.

Apart from the connection in business relationship, the Group also
engages its customers and suppliers to collaborate and strive for better
performance in business operation, environment, and community
investment. The Group encourages employees to engage in community
activities voluntarily.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during FY2025 are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of movements in the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group
during FY2025 are set out in notes 22 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company's total issued share capital as at 31 March 2025 was
1,600,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during FY2025
are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during FY2025 are set out in note 32(a) to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company's reserves available for distribution
to owners comprising the aggregate amount of share premium less
accumulated losses, amounted to approximately HK$85,639,000.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for

the last five financial years is set out on page 184. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during FY2025 and up to the date of this annual report were
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (Chairman and CEQ)
Mr. Leung Wing Chun
Mr. Leung Chau Ming

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin
(Resigned effective from 15 November 2024)
Ms. Wu Kin Yi
Mr. Lei Nelson
(Appointed on 15 November 2024)

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Directors’ biographical details which is required to be disclosed
pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 17 to 21 of this annual report.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 23 October
2024, Mr. Tsang Ho Yin resigned as independent non-executive director
effective from 15 November 2024, due to he needs to devote more time
to his other personal and business commitments. During the FY2025, no
director resigned from his office or refused to stand for re-election to his
office due to reasons relating to the affairs of the Company.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Mr. Leung Yam Cheung, Mr. Leung
Wing Chun and Mr. Lei Nelson will retire at the AGM and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual written confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has
an unexpired service contract with the Company and/or any of its
subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions and
Connected Transactions” in this report, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which any
of the Company’s Director or an entity connected with the Director or
controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of FY2025 or at any time during
FY2025.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2025 or at the end of FY2025 was the Company,
its subsidiaries, its holding company or the subsidiaries of its holding
company, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

At no time during FY2025 or at the end of FY2025 was the Company a
party to any equity-linked agreements.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

To the knowledge of the Board, as at 31 March 2025, the interests and
short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
(a) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or (b) which were required, under
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to in that
section, or (c) which were required under the Model Code to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Interests in shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest

EsHR

Directors’ Report
EEEWE

EERESTHRABRA
B fn AR R )R 2R

%t K HE

MEEEZHMN R-_E-_AF=ZA=+—
H BFRARAESTHRABRARQR K
HAEMEEZE(EELEFLBEKDE
XVER) B AR5 HEEER D ERET A (a
BB %&%EMW%W$%UU%“4M
MEARRD GRETRES AR (BIER
Eh%&%fMWﬁ@MXWM¢&ﬁ%%
ERERIAR) « (b)REFSF KBER
Wﬁ%wﬁﬁ”@%&ﬂ%%ﬁ@%mﬁ
R Bk(c ﬁﬁh STRIZEME AR

%x%m% KEWT

RAQB RS F A ES

Percentage to
the issued share
capital of the
Company (Note 3)
IEARRAF
EEITRAN
El 1 AlE=)

Number of Shares Mot D

HQ'fﬁ;& g ()

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (Nete2)

RATRE S 0022

Interested in a controlled corporation

SESEE R

1,200,000,000 (L) 75%
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Interests in shares of associated corporation RAEBEERGPESNER

Percentage
to the issued
share capital of

Name of associated the associated
Name of Director Nature of interest corporation Number of shares Nete corporation
{LAEESEE
B2EITIRAMN
MR REEME LB AR it S8 D Bt
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung Beneficial owner Sky Mission T(L) 100%
RALFESEE EnlAA RE
Notes: MizE -
(1)  The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the (1) ®EXFHILIEZATRARRBRMHFHES
Company. HAFR
(2)  These 1,200,000,000 Shares are held by Sky Mission, a company incorporated  (2)  #%%1,200,000,000/& B AKXIHE © X
in the BVI and owned as to 100% by Mr. Leung Yam Cheung. Therefore, Mr. ER—EREBEZHSTMK I AR
Leung Yam Cheung is deemed to be interested in all of the 1,200,000,000 RRTEELREEE100%ER - Bt © BFE
Shares held by Sky Mission for the purposes of the SFO. HFREEHRIIME - REFEERBR/NR
AT B EFTA1,200,000,000/% i 15 4 #
B -

(3) As at 31 March 2025, the issued share capital of the Company was (3) RIZZE-RAF=A=+—H ARQAARBH#HIT
1,600,000,000 Shares. A% 7 £1,600,000,0008% B {5 °

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as  Br EXFTHEBEEIINRRESRM - R
at 31 March 2025, there were no interests and short positions of the Z—HF=A=+—H  #EEERAQF
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying &7 A 8 R A2 7] 3 E (T o] F8 B 5% [ (
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations & %75 % K HI S 561 S XVED) % - 10
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be X {HEEHEEF HEARIE B H LA EIENE
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 XVEFE 7R E87 Sp/BME AR QA7) K X FHY
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which  #zZ KA R (BIEREES LA S K5 R
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or  EX W EERE ABENEZIAR) » =X
were required, under Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register  RIEFE 5 R EI &5 H] F352EBE BN % &
referred to in that section, or were required under the Model Code to be  Fifs & ez KA R » SRBZ <P A
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange. AMEGARRNE LB ER SOKE -

o0 4

A

o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN THE SHARES

So far as the Directors are aware, as of 31 March 2025, the following
corporations/persons (other than Directors and chief executive of the
Company) had interests of 5% or more in the issued Shares or underlying
shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest

RREMHE EEME

Number of Shares (Nete 1)

Directors’ Report
EEEWE

 BRRFR MR R

REEMA BE_T_AF=A=1+—
B THRAR/ AL(BEERARAEST
KA BERIMNTAC 31T B S8 B8 A {n
BRIERES LB G EXVEE2RE3DH
MRSBRAN R B MR P IEE - SRR
HRHEEPIEIBCIHRERARFEFNE
FC M A RS 85K A 5% ERIA E s

Percentage to
the issued share
capital of the
Company (Nete3)
1EARRDF
EEITRAN

B Hp ®Es)

Hﬁﬁ%{ ERLEN

Sky Mission (Note2) Beneficial owner

RAEWED E=EEA
Notes:

(1) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  Sky Mission is beneficially and wholly-owned by Mr. Leung Yam Cheung.
Therefore, Mr. Leung Yam Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the
1,200,000,000 Shares held by Sky Mission for the purposes of the SFO.

(3) As at 31 March 2025, the issued share capital of the Company was
1,600,000,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as
at 31 March 2025, no other persons (other than the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company) owned interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or interests or
short positions required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Group has not adopted any share option scheme.

[ NN — : : S=——_m—————

1,200,000,000 (L) 75%

(1) EXFEILUEZALRBOTRONEE -

() REBMREHELEERNEZEHRSE - At
MESMMBROIME - REFLERRS
A RALPIFEA #9 A5 1,200,000,000 8% f 17
YRR e ©

B) R-EBE-RE=A=+—0 ARFIDHET
f% 7K 51,600,000,0008% B9 ©

B EXPIBRBEIINRRESARM - R=F
“HE=ZA=1T—H BMEHMAL(ES
HARAEREHITERA BRI 2 AE
Befn P HE B SE AR A RIRIR & % & B & 1K
E336HRATHFEECMOERIOAR KR
BES REBEGAIEXVEBE2 R E3D EBAR
ARRR) R B Z PR BE R SIORE °

AR A B

AN B I AR AN () PR A A AT ) o
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group's related party/connected transactions are set out in
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group's retirement benefit scheme are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for service contracts, no other contracts, relating to the management
and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Company were entered into or subsisting during FY2025.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

During FY2025, none of the Directors or the controlling Shareholders of
the Company and their respective close associates had any interests in a
business, apart from the business of the Group, which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group which would be required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities secured or sustained by him as a
Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgement is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 1,249 employees. The Group
continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its workforce
by providing them with adequate and regular training. The Group
remunerates its employees mainly based on industry practices and
individual's performance and experience. On top of regular remuneration,
discretionary bonus may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the
Group's performance as well as individual's performance.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and chief executives, and the
five highest paid individuals of the Group for FY2025 are set out in notes
12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders of the
Company.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation during FY2025 and
FY2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information publicly
available to the Company, throughout FY2025 and as at the date of this
annual report, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained a
sufficient public float of at least 25% in the issued share capital of the
Company as required under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during FY2025.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER FY2025

No important events affecting the Company occurred since 31 March
2025 and up to the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During FY2025, the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 96.8% (FY2024: 97.8%) of the total revenue of the Group
and the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
61.4% (FY2024: 40.7%) of the total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's
five largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During FY2025, the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 50.6%
(FY2024: 66.9%) of the total purchases of the Group and the largest
supplier of the Group accounted for 12.7% (FY2024: 22.4%) of the total
purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's
five largest suppliers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company's corporate governance practices are set out in
the corporate governance report on pages 22 to 47 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (“Asian Alliance”) was appointed as
the Auditor for the Reporting Period. Asian Alliance shall retire at the
forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment.
A resolution will be proposed at the AGM for the re-appointment of Asian
Alliance as the independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Leung Yam Cheung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
BB AR S

/ AR(ER) BHEETERAT
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
To the members of

Skymission Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Skymission
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 72 to 183, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$105,411,000 and net
cash outflow in respect of operating activities for the year ended 31 March
2025. As at 31 March 2025, the Group has interest-bearing borrowings of
approximately HK$60,242,000 included in the current liabilities, in which
the Group has breached financial covenants of the borrowings with the
carrying amounts of approximately HK$52,097,000 and the Group has
cash and cash equivalent of approximately HK$665,000. These events
or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.

VR R IR e

BB ECEBRANERTEE
EEEFEIRAYBRERWIE3IN - &
EEREBEE T -_RAF=—A=+t—HItHF
[EE5% 158 F BB 49105,411,000/8 7T A& %
Bz FReERH RZEZRF=A=+
—H - EBREZEDEERIEGTEEER
#60,242,0008 7L - HF BESECDRERIR
E{E#4 452,097,000 T2 EE 2 iR
#wom BEBCZReMASEZEMOAE
665,000/ - XS FHFIBAEREME
B BB EmERMFE3 S - 2
REEEATHETEN  AleeY S£EEBHE
KEMBENERNERRM TENERUE
FULEEELISET -

A E =R

RREFEAREBERMNEXHE - RA
HAHGEMBRENBIARREEZNSE
B zERTENEMEAEBSAMBRE
RHAMHBERREE  MEMATNEHELF
FHEHEBER - BRIEFELLEEHEN
EATHEEE] - EERE)N  EECHE
EATFt FRAESRE T AMA R
EATEHE -

REEEZERBRARF G 2024/25

63



64

Independent Auditor’'s Report
BB AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BRESER

AR ETEIH®E

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B ES N REERERET SR

Recognition of revenue from construction contracts
BRABZESHREENRA

We identified the recognition of revenue from construction
contracts as a key audit matter due to the significance
of the amount to the consolidated financial statements
as a whole and the degree of judgement and estimation
uncertainty involved.

RRARA MBS MRBE 2 EASRRAY ke HE k52
THEEMRE - WRFSRAZERSNNBRARN RERE
FTEIE -

As disclosed in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the Group recognised
revenue from construction contracts of approximately
HK$402,912,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025.

BEFE R REMEERRRARE X BEREREEC

FIRF=A=T - HLFERRKBRESNNRADLR
402,912,000/ 7T °
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Our audit procedures in relation to the recognition of
revenue from construction contracts includes:

BMBEREREESORA CBRETEF B

e Understood the Group's processes and controls over
recognition of revenue from construction contracts
and budget estimation, and evaluated the design
and implementation and tested the operating
effectiveness of the controls;

e TH EREYHRRBRESOMELNKRARBERG
ATEVRAR A RAR S - W EHE IR IR RET A E N - &I
R 2UR S BB (R RRRE

e Agreed the total budgeted contract revenue to the
construction contracts and variation orders, if any, or
other form of agreements or other correspondences
and discussed with the management of the Group to
evaluate the reasonableness of their estimated total
budgeted contract revenue;

e BREBEEAHKABBEAHNREMNIRME) @ K
Hip X sk L 2R A s 1T4% Y - Wil B &
EMEIEEEITFW - U ARG REEANKRAN
BB

e Verified whether value of work transferred to
customers has been reasonably recognised as
contract revenue including variations in contract
work, by agreed to the latest payment certificates
issued by customers or correspondence with
customers and performed site visits to construction
sites;

e RFCHBARANIEEE(BEGHNIENESD)
EREAEERAEEANS  WEHRFELHNEN
NHFASETPHAE  RETEETHNEME
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) R ESTEH@®E

Key audit matters
BRETBR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAMEST N REERERET SR

Recognition of revenue from construction contracts (Continued)

BREZESOREENRA (B

The Group provides formwork works services to
customers. Revenue from construction contracts is
recognised over time during the course of construction by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of relevant performance obligation, measured based on
output method on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of work transferred to customers with reference to
the certified value of work performed up to the end of the
reporting period and the estimated total revenue for the
contracts entered into by the Group.

BERE/EF RERR TR - L“A%WWAB@%E
TTHEBNEEMNERBABRREEZEBREPRER -
REH EREEAEERGEF N TIEEE %%@ﬁﬁi
HRDTER IRENRBEEN BSERERITSNNMETER
ANETTAHE -

Assessed the management's estimate of the impact
to revenue arising from scope changes made to the
original contracts, claim and disputes with reference
to supporting documents including variation
orders and correspondence among the Group and
customers;

BBSE REEFREAZE 2 EHERXH (RE
TREREBREAMN)  FHEERBERANTRAHS
MR RERFASEERHREOYE it

Assessed the reasonableness of the gross profit
margin during the year by comparing with the
budgeted gross profit margin of the whole
construction project; and

B EREREREWREENFETHEER - AR
FEEMENEGEME &

Checked construction costs incurred during the year
by tracing to supporting documents.

BREBRXMREFRELEMEERA -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BRETSER

AR ETEIH®E

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAMEST O RIERRET SR

Impairment loss of trade receivables and contract assets

EZRURRRENEENRERE

We identified the impairment loss of trade receivables
and contract assets as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balances to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and degree of estimations
required in assessing expected credit loss (“ECL") of trade
receivables and contract assets.

RPHRIESERERRANEEREFEABRESLS
E - REARESEHEA NS RAZREEAUREE
FEKERRA VAR HHEEEE(AREEFE) R
B -

The Group applied the simplified approach to calculate
the expected credit loss ("ECL") for trade receivables and
contract assets which is based on lifetime ECL at each
reporting date. Management, with the assistance of
independent professional valuer (the “Valuer”), performed
a detailed analysis which considered customers’ ageing
profile, credit history, historical payment pattern and
forward-looking information for the estimation of ECL on
its trade receivables and contract assets.

REHREEY X BEREEREZHRBEEERERGCE
FHEESREERRANEENTEMGEEER(HHMEESD
B - RBUEXMGEM(GEEMDNBET - BERECIE
HFADN - EREPHKREKAES - FEESL - BAENKR
ARATEMEER - AEFTEESRERR LA NEENTEY

FEBR -
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Our audit procedures in relation to management'’s
assessment on allowance for credit loss of trade
receivables and contract assets include:

BMEREEEHEIREEARANEENEERRER
AHEZ B RRFRE

e Understood and evaluated the methodologies and
assumptions used by the Group in assessing the ECL
of trade receivables and contract assets;

s THEEIE BERERFHEIRUERNANEE
ZEHEREBREMERNIIERRR

e Obtained ageing analysis of trade receivables
and contract assets and tested the accuracy of
information used by management by comparing
individual items in the analysis with relevant
supporting documents;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BRETEE

Independent Auditor’'s Report
B2 BEN RS

R ESTEH@®E

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEPNES O EEERETSE

Impairment loss of trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

B2 RURR RS NEENRERE (E)

As disclosed in Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 March 2025, the carrying
amounts of trade receivables and contract assets were
approximated to HK$214,188,000 and HK$125,390,000,
respectively, net of allowance for credit losses of
approximately HK$82,783,000 and HK$42,744,000.

WA T E MRS RI9FTHE R _AF
—A=+—H8 MKEEBEREELS2,783,0008 Lk
42,744,000 L% - BESRWER LKAV EENRESE
D RI#) £214,188,00078 7T % 125,390,000 7T °

Evaluated the reasonableness of management
assessment on ECL by challenging the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking
information used to determine the ECL;

FERERNBR(BIEANEEEREERENES XA
EER)  FEEREEYEHEESENTMRESS
Pl

Discussed with the management of the Group
for their evaluation of the impact of disputes with
customers and unforeseen delay of construction
projects, if any, on the credit risk of trade receivables
and contract assets and checked to relevant
correspondences and documents to assess the
reasonableness of management'’s evaluation; and

B EREEEEIRREHER M REEER
ZAAERER(MAB)HEZFREERRANEER
BERBROZENTE - X ERBRBIE R AR
BEEBMHENEEME - &

Checked subsequent settlements to bank remittance

advice and the latest amounts of revenue certified by
customers.

BEREAHENRITETBA L E MR &R
T e
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Chan Mei Mei

Practising Certificate Number: P08148

8/F, Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

30 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBakEMEZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

2025 2024
—EB-RE —ZT-mEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aE FET FAT
Revenue WA 5 402,912 608,078
Cost of services BRTS A A (398,565) (599,377)
Gross profit EF 4,347 8,701
Other income HA g A 7 —* 22
Impairment losses under expected TRHREEEEEXT 2 RE
credit loss model, net of reversal E518 - B FEEE 8 (99,909) (22,680)
Impairment losses on property, plant ¥ - liE k&R ERAFBRE
and equipment 17 - (700)
Administrative and other operating TR REMmEE RS
expenses (7,515) (15,610)
Finance costs BT R AR 9 (2,099) (2,007)
Loss before tax B A E1E 11 (105,176) (32,274)
Income tax expenses FriS®i 2 10 (235) (122)
Loss and total comprehensive expense AN aE#HEA AFEEFA
for the year attributable to owners of  EE R 2 EH S 258
the Company (105,411) (32,396)
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
Loss per share BREE 15
- Basic - H R (6.59) (2.02)
- Diluted - g N/AT3E A N/AT i F

* Represents amount less than HK$1,000

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EEMBRTR

At 31 March 2025
R-E-_RAF=A=+—H

2025 2024
—ERF —ZT
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FBT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB k& 16 558 11,601
Deferred tax assets RIEFHIBEEE 24 = 235
558 11,836
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade and other receivables f’?%}ﬂ&zﬁ% R N E b Uk BR X 18 214,732 334,946
Contract assets EHEE 19 125,390 103,079
Income tax recoverable Tﬂﬁ@ﬁﬁ S 3,723 2,791
Cash and cash equivalents RELREEFED 20 665 13,412
344,510 454,228
CURRENT LIABILITIES i p=K
Trade and other payables B S RNERLEMEMNER 21 26,680 48,754
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 22 60,242 53,725
Lease liabilities HEARE 23 448 812
87,370 103,291
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 257,140 350,937
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 257,698 362,773
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FIRBERE
Trade and other payables BEOREMNBER L EMERIER 21 4,735 3,951
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 - 448
4,735 4,399
NET ASSETS BEEFHE 252,963 358,374
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARR#E
Share capital [N 25 16,000 16,000
Reserves i 236,963 342,374
TOTAL EQUITY IS EER 252,963 358,374

These consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 183 were %H&EMBHRF72E183AE N _F—
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June

2025 and are signed on its behalf by: WHEREREE
Leung Yam Cheung Leung‘Wir]g Chun
RIET* REHE
Director Director
2 BFE

REEEZERBRARF G 2024/25

REANA=ZTHEEESHERRERT -

73



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

o AR 3L 45
mEEREER
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAEE
Reserves
Gl
Share Share Capital  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve profits  Sub-total equity

REx  ROEE W ERREE  REER Pt RREH

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T T FEx FE T
(Note 25)  (Note 26(a))  (Note 26(b))
(frsE2s)  (Mfsr2e(a)  (MiEE26(b)

At 1 April 2023 RZZ-=FNA—H 16,000 91,065 30 283,675 374,770 390,770
Loss and total comprehensive expense ERBERZERXER

for the year - - - (32,396) (32.39) (32.39)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-WE=A=+—H 16,000 91,005 30 251,279 342374 358,374
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREBRZERLEE

for the year - - - (105411) (105411) (105411)
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-RF=F=1-H 16,000 91,065 30 145,868 236,963 252,963
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEBHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—EB-ARE —TEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
Loss before tax FrFL R E1E (105,176) (32,274)
Adjustments for: HATRIEEL AR -
Loss on written-off-of property, plant and M - R KR EMIEEE
equipment - 59
Gain on early termination of the lease TR I FHE WS = (19)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERERETE
equipment 11,043 13,750
Finance costs EUp DN 2,099 2,007
Interest income FLEWA —* 3)
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - HERERENRE
equipment &8 = 700
Impairment loss on trade receivables under ~ FEHAE EEBEAI T HY
expected credit loss model, net of reversal 2 5 AR TR
BEEE - BEFHE 60,687 19,398
Impairment loss on contract assets under EHREEFEERATHENE
expected credit loss model, net of reversal ERRERE - BE%E 39,222 3,282
Operating cash flows before movements in ZEESBEHHINELRESRE
working capital 7,875 6,900
Decrease (increase) in trade and B S EBER R R E b FRULBR 3R
other receivables > (38 n) 59,527 (43,720)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets ABHEEGS IR (61,533) 21,624
(Decrease) increase in trade and B SRR E A IR
other payables O ) 18N (21,406) 2,279
Cash used in operations KEFARSE (15,537) (12,917)
Income tax paid B FTER (932) (1,656)
Interest received 2 HFE =55 3
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES  && FENFTABE S FE (16,469) (14,570)

REEEZERBRARF G 2024/25
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A =B

,%/T =] IE@/)ILE%:Z

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

2025 2024
—E_RE —EpE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE)
New interest-bearing borrowings raised EETHREE 131,649 101,367
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings BERABEE (125,132) (95,066)
Repayment of lease liabilities BREEEE (812) (907)
Interest paid EASAE (1,983) (1,965)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING METBFBHEESFHE
ACTIVITIES 3,722 3,429
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRBESEEMRLD FEE
EQUIVALENTS (12,747) (11,141)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FPBRERRESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 13,412 24,553
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERBERRSEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR ENRITHEBR KRR S
represented by bank balances and cash 665 13,412
*  Represents amount less than HK$1,000 EAH,000E T

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Skymission Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability,
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company's registered office is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The Company’s principal place of business is situated at Flat
3, 7/F., Yuen Long Trade Centre, 99-109 Castle Peak Road, Yuen
Long, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and together with
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in provision of formwork works services in Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), the
immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company is Sky
Mission Group Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). The ultimate controlling party is
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group'’s annual period
beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are

mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of

Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the

“2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the

current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current

or non-current, which:

specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at
the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the classification
should not be affected by management intentions or

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE
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expectations to settle the liability within 12 months. Zo
clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer of cash, s XBRABAEBAYHFIEER
goods or services, or the entity's own equity instruments to the ® - Em _RHW‘% _)Z,a BARSH
counterparty. If a liability has terms that could, at the option B AT RiETT c fMEBEA
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of BIER TEE%T?H L EERE
the entity's own equity instruments, these terms do not affect EERASNRATAETHE
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity H REZEREEREAgRE
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument R332/ TA - 22/BEE
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. REBEARBRATAR 2%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that only
covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before
the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed only after the
reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also specify that covenants
with which an entity must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future
covenants) do not affect the classification of a liability as current or
non-current at the reporting date. However, if the entity's right to
defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying with
covenants within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity
discloses information that enables users of financial statements
to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming repayable within
twelve months after the reporting period. This would include
information about the covenants, the carrying amount of related
liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the
entity may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has applied
the new accounting policy to the classification of liability as current
or non-current retrospectively. The application of the amendments
in the current year had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature-
HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards - Volume 113
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

Except for the amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that the application of
all other amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and add an
exception which permits an entity to deem a financial liability to be
discharged before the settlement date if it is settled in cash using an
electronic payment system if, and only if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment of
whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are consistent
with a basic lending arrangement. The amendments specify that
an entity should focus on what an entity is being compensated for
rather than the compensation amount. Contractual cash flows are
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement if they are indexed to
a variable that is not a basic lending risk or cost. The amendments
state that, in some cases, a contingent feature may give rise to
contractual cash flows that are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement both before and after the change in contractual cash
flows, but the nature of the contingent event itself does not relate
directly to changes in basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore,
the description of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and the
characteristics of “contractually linked instruments” are clarified in
the amendments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Continued)

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in respect of investments
in equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are amended. In particular, entities are
required to disclose the fair value gain or loss presented in other
comprehensive income during the period, showing separately those
related to investments derecognised during the reporting period and
those related to investments held at the end of the reporting period.
An entity is also required to disclose any transfers of the cumulative
gain or loss within equity related to the investments derecognised
during the reporting period. In addition, the amendments introduce
the requirements of qualitative and quantitative disclosure of
contractual terms that could affect the contractual cash flow based on
a contingent even not directly relating to basic lending risks and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standards, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS
7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS
33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is
in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The Directors have, at the time of approving the consolidated
financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group incurred
a net loss of approximately HK$105,411,000 and net cash
outflow in respect of operating activities. As at 31 March 2025,
the Group has interest-bearing borrowings of approximately
HK$60,242,000 included in the current liabilities, in which the
Group has breached financial covenants of the borrowings
with the carrying amounts of approximately HK$52,097,000
and the Group has cash and cash equivalent of approximately
HK$665,000. Such conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, and thus, the Group
may not be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

The Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing its consolidated financial statements. In order to
improve the Group's financial positions, liquidity and cash
flows, the Directors have adopted or shall adopt the following
measures:

(i) implement cost-saving initiatives and enhance
operational efficiency in order to improve profitability and
future operating cashflow;

(i)  renegotiating the borrowing terms with the bank which
the financial covenants were breached;

(i) implemented measures to speed up the collection of
outstanding trade receivables; and

(iv) obtained a loan agreement for facilities up to HK$20
million from a money lender company incorporated in
Hong Kong in favour of the Group to provide standby
facilities to the Group.

The Directors have reviewed the Group's cash flow projections
prepared by the management, which covers a period of not
less than twelve months from 31 March 2025, on the basis
that the Group's aforementioned plans and measures will
be successful, the Directors believe that the Group will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working capital
and other financing requirements as and when they fall due in
the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the Directors believe that the Group will continue
as a going concern and therefore consider it is appropriate
to adopt a going concern basis in preparing its consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that would result from the failure of the Group to
obtain sufficient future funding. Should the Group be unable
to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying values of the
assets of the Group to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and
liabilities, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:
*  has power over the investee;
* is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
fact and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
The Group adopts a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3:  Determine the transaction price
Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract
Step 5 Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group
satisfies a performance obligation

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is
provision of formwork works services.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@) good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b)  series of distinct goods or services that are substantially

the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to
the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Identification of performance obligations (Continued)

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or
service is distinct within the context of the contract).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In
determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group
considers the concept of control and such indicators as legal
title, physical possession, right to payment, significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue from provision of formwork works services is
recognised over time using the output method (as explained
below).

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided
the outcome of the performance obligation can be reasonably
measured, the Group applies the output method (i.e. based on
the direct measurements of the value of the work transferred
to the customer to date relative to the remaining work promised
under the contract) to measure the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation because the method
provides a faithful depiction of the Group'’s performance and
reliable information is available to the Group to apply the
method. Otherwise, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of the costs incurred until such time that it can reasonably
measure the outcome of the performance obligation.

T ——

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

VR A SRR EELE
SHBRER &)

= A

32 EESHEERERE)

WAFER ()

BB RS ERE 15 A F
FatA (&)

YA HE R A5 B (A8

s B 49 B AE X SEBERS RS AK » A
AEEREFREAREER
HENE KRB EXBENE
T REERRRETHESE
- AEEE EE IR SIA R
IWEEXEE BREBE - W
SRR - BEHGROAR
7 BB B RIA K B PRIk EE

E-

PR AR IR T2 AR 75 60 W A BE By ]
150 FA 8 0% (20 TS Pt BERR

SRR E B T R E LRI 155
BERRERNBAMS - HELD
AEEERAAEFE  A&EHA
FERHLEEEREREELS
RUEEENEEFHTREAER
BEKABHN R TIZENERE)
FETEERETRANEENERS
N RARZ T AREHEBANE
B RBALREAISEER AL
BERAZIE - BRI BUAFTE
ERARRERBA  BEEHA
BEAERNEENAERRBL -

REEEZERBRARF G 2024/25

93



94

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-
impaired financial assets.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right
to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the
contract is presented as a contract liability when the payment is
made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable
is the Group's right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

For the business of provision of formwork works services,
in accordance with the standard payment schedules of the
Group and the contracts with the customers, payments are
normally not due or received from the customer until the
services are completed or when the goods are delivered and
certified by the customers. However, for such transactions,
revenue is recognised over time and therefore, a contract
asset is recognised until it becomes a receivable or payments
are received. During that period, any significant financing
components, if applicable, will be included in the contract asset
and recognised as interest income.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead account
for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases, e.g. carparks, that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. #HmEGASBEHEROELELE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY B BREN (@)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EEEHBRER®E)

Leases (Continued) meEE)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) REEERETA (B)

Right-of-use assets EHEEE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: ERREEKABLE

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease e MHEABBWVZFES
liability; '

e anylease payments made at or before the commencement e AFALE B ISk 2 RIFTIERI(E
date, less any lease incentives received; AIAERR - BEMENE

] &R
e anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and s AFEEBEESANEMVIAERE
BRAS ¢ K&

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in e AREEBEFKREBHBREHAE
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, E - IRIEAERE E S
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the REEAEEREEEE R
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms TN AR P #3 E IR A EE A Y
and conditions of the lease. fEETAA -

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated EREEERKATE  REE
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any M ERFAEEE  WHAE
remeasurement of lease liabilities. ERHEEBENENGE -
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to NGB A IR HEE 5 00 HA A R B
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end BSHEEHEEE RERZE
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date REEESRK A BEE AR
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets FHERTE - TR - FREE
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its EREGFAIEAFHRESZ
estimated useful life and the lease term. REENERERE -

REEEZERBRARF G 2024/25

TR — S - —— _—

97



98

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory in “property,
plant and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair

value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.
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ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans including the Long
Service Payment (“LSP") under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance, the cost of providing benefits is determined using
the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations
being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period.
In determining the present value of the Group's defined benefit
obligations and the related current service cost and, where
applicable, past service cost, the Group attributes benefit to
periods of service under the plan's benefit formula. However,
if an employee’s service in later years will lead to a materially
higher level of benefit than earlier years, the Group attributes
the benefit on a straight-line basis from:

(@) the date when service by the employee first leads to
benefits under the plan (whether or not the benefits are
conditional on further service) until.

(b) the date when further service by the employee will lead
to no material amount of further benefits under the plan,
other than from further salary increases.

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the
effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and
the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected
immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position
with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement
recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected
immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

e — S e

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period
of a plan amendment or curtailment and a gain or loss on
settlement is recognised when settlement occurs. When
determining past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement,
an entity shall remeasure the net defined benefit liability or
asset using the current fair value of plan assets and current
actuarial assumptions, reflecting the benefits offered under the
plan and the plan assets before and after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement, without considering the effect of
asset ceiling (i.e. the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan).

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the
beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability
or asset. However, if the Group remeasures the net defined
benefit liability or asset before plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement, the Group determines net interest for the
remainder of the annual reporting period after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement using the benefits
offered under the plan and the plan assets after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement and the discount rate
used to remeasure such net defined benefit liability or asset,
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability or asset during the period resulting from contributions
or benefit payments.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

e  service cost (including current service cost, past service
cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and
settlements);

e netinterest expense or income; and

» remeasurement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. #HmEGABEHEROELELE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY ZetRER @)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EEEHBRERE

Employee benefits (Continued) EEEF (&

Retirement benefit costs (Continued) RORAEFIRL A ()

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the TR A BRI R A HE R A IR IR

consolidated statement of financial position represents the BHEAERKAEBEERENET

actual deficit or surplus in the Group's defined benefit plans. ZNEREEIRSG - AULFTE

Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the B Z AT BERBR PO LA ST B3R K

present value of any economic benefits available in the form of AR RET B R HR AT TS

refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to BN R IRE -

the plans.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third parties EBERE=ZFIELBIEHNK - 7

reduce service cost upon payment of these contributions to R 25 5T &8 R 18R A R

the plan. B -

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there will be BRI ERGHETAES XS

contributions from employees or third parties, the accounting = BERHERE - S EER

depends on whether the contributions are linked to service, as FTHAREEERBER - FEW

follows: ™~

e Ifthe contributions are not linked to services (for example o W fH K EE AR A R (fBI an i
contributions are required to reduce a deficit arising TER L ET BB EE RS
from losses on plan assets or from actuarial losses), they BEEBEENEL - BIR
are reflected in the remeasurement of the net defined BENtETHEMNEERE
benefit liability or assets. R R Rk o

e If contributions are linked to services, they reduce service o fWFREAREER - AR
costs. For the amount of contribution that is dependent BRFSBCAR o BEAR T AR 75 F HA
on the number of years of service, the Group reduces MENHRESEME - A&
service cost by attributing the contributions to periods of EFEBERAEEGTERE
service using the attribution method required by HKAS 19 1955 E70R LB R TE
paragraph 70 for the gross benefits. For the amount of Y BB 7 A R R B Y AR
contribution that is independent of the number of years HERR - AR A BRI A
of service, the Group reduces service cost by attributing 7R o it B R 745 6 HA R A A £
contributions to the employees’ periods of service in HeHEMmMs - ARERES
accordance with HKAS 19 paragraph 70. BRI EREI1RETOR

7% fH K 55 B A B T ) AR 745 A
B BRIS KA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed employee
contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated
amount of LSP obligation is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested
with employees, which are deemed to be contributions from
the relevant employees.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting
from service cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit or loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the lease liabilities, and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write-off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated to assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
assets in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand, excluding bank
balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the definition
of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-
term borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

i

=52
E=d

BUREM B MRNEERE

PPN

=

STBREER @

32 EESHEEERE

RekReEED

RBa RREFEBMRERE P HR
MKREY - B

() Hz HBEEFHERE T
BREXEERGMEHAH
BHRTBNARETERMNIR
1TRERR )

by REFEEY EEFEEH
CBERIMAER/=EAX
¥5E) - ARERERSEHM
BB EEEZHRRT
REBRPERE - BeF
(ERZ RS R (S Db R A
2 MIEMRNIESREME
f o

I

REARERBRME  RER
ReSENEELXTENES
RRSZEN R AREREE
ABRAEERSEE —HHH
AEERTED) - RBBELRG
BETHRE 251 BEEIEHR -

f& &R

BEEERANSEEELMEZ
1B TR o

—_—



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations
under the relevant contracts with customers for provision
of formwork works services are recognised at the date of
completion of the service, at the Directors’ best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the Group’s obligation.

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are
recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract
is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under
which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received from the contract. The unavoidable costs under a
contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract,
which is the lower of the net cost of fulfilling it and any
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Provisions (Continued)

When assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making,
the Group includes costs that relate directly to the contract,
consisting of both the incremental costs (to specify, e.g. direct
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs (e.g. an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling that contract) that relate
directly to fulfilling contracts.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial assets; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. #HmEGABEHEROELELE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY ZetRER @)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EEEHBRERE

Financial instruments (Continued) SRMTEE)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE(E)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets TRHEEMSHERGEESE(E

(Continued)

Afinancial asset is held for trading if: W& ToHEME - BlefEER

FEEE -

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling e LDIREHANEHEREKEZ
in the near term; or FEBR ;5L

e oninitial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified o MUBHERE  AAAEH
financial instruments that the Group manages together SEEEZEHNERITA
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit- HEW—F9 - WABRH
taking; or ENgEHEREREN ;3

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a o HAIEEWBBIERLEH
hedging instrument. TEHHVTHETA -

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial ESN - A AT H B 3K e R D & A T

asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost SEAC - ANERE AR S iR T

or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or BIRBHN AR A FEFAR

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. thErHBRAENETREERR

Flazt A -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. #HmEGABEHEROELELE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY B BREN (@)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

32 EESHEERERE)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) ERMTEE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)

EHMEENSEREETE(E)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

()  Amortised cost and interest income () BRI BUA

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below), interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, contract assets and bank balances
and cash) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group'’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group applies the simplified approach and always
recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

T ——

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. #HmEGABEHEROELELE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY ZetRER @)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EEEHBRERE
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMTEE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE(E)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment TRIR & BB 5 3 2 2E Rl 2 95 7B
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) EITHEF G 2 EERE
(&)
(iy  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) () FERBRBEELAGE
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in o BEHRANKEEEE
the operating results of the debtor; R TR EEE
e an actual or expected significant adverse change e EBHAMEE KA
in the regulatory, economic, or technological SRR IEER k8
environment of the debtor that results in a HHIRE R FZF)
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet mMEREHAETH
its debt obligations. B EER R AR
T o
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of AEBETHERETEER
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a BEREE FANZRESR
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as Mt W HEEERELE
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of B AHERIZEBETE FRIRIE
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the AT EERREREE
amount becomes past due. EFo
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Definition of default

The Group has rebutted the 90 days past due
presumption of default based on reasonable and
supportable information, including the Group's credit
risk control practices and the payment history of financial
assets overdue more than 90 days. However, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

e S s : : e —-

Write-off policy

The Group writes-off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written-off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets are
considered on a collective basis taking into consideration
past due information and relevant credit information
such as forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

e  Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

T ——

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gains or losses
in profit or loss for financial instruments through loss
allowance accounts.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its

liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, interest-
bearing borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3.2, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n‘l—ﬁ

BB HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
financial performance and financial position of the Group indicates
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The
assessment of the going concern assumptions involves making
judgement by the Directors, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. Please refer to Note 3.1 in relation to the going concern
assumptions adopted by the Directors.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

(i)  Provision of ECL for trade receivables and contract assets

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables and contract assets by using various inputs
and assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss
rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which
is based on the Group's historical information, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade receivables and contract assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

e S s : : e —-

Revenue recognition from construction works

As explained in the paragraph headed “Revenue recognition”
in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements,
management measures the value of completed construction
work based on output method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurement of the value of
construction works transferred to customer to date relative to
the remaining construction works promised to be completed
under the construction contracts in order to measure the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation. Because of the nature of the activity undertaken in
construction contracts, the date at which the contract activity
is entered into and the date when the activity is completed
usually fall into different accounting periods and the scope
of work may change during the construction period. The
management's estimate of revenue and the completion status
of construction works requires significant judgement and has
a significant impact on the amount and timing of revenue
recognised. The Group has qualified surveyor to periodically
measure the value of the construction works completed
for each construction project and issue interim payment
applications. The construction works performed by the Group
would also be certified by customers periodically according
to the construction progress. The management reviews and
revises the estimation of contract revenue prepared for each
construction contract as the contract progress based on the
interim payment applications and the payment certificate
issued by customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 March 2025, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the tax losses of HK$43,397,000 due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of
the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future, which is a key source of estimation uncertainty
especially the uncertainty on economic outlook. In cases where
the actual future taxable profits generated are less or more
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
result in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

Provision for long service payment

The present value of long service payment depends on
a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial
basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of long service
payment. Detail of key assumptions and impact of possible
changes in key assumptions are disclosed in Note 27.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. REVENUE

(a)

(b)

(©)

Analysis of the Group's revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, all of the
Group's revenue was arising from provision of formwork
works services in Hong Kong. All of the Group’s revenue from
provision of formwork works services was recognised over
time.

Performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The Groups provides formwork works services to customers.
The revenue of such services is recognised over time as the
Group creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the assets is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for
these construction services based on the value of completed
construction work using output method.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the
same contract, is recognised over the period in which the
construction services are performed representing the Group's
right to consideration for the services performed because the
rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers
on the construction work completed by the Group and the
work is pending for the certification by the customers. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time the
Group obtains the certification of the completion progress of
construction work from the customers.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) (upon taken
into account adjustments and variation orders) as at 31 March
2025 amounted to approximately HK$368,203,000 (2024:
approximately HK$285,000,000). Management expects that
all the remaining performance obligations will be recognised
as revenue ranging from 1 to 3 years from the end of the year
(2024: 1 to 3 years).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Board of directors, being the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM"), have determined that the Group's only business of
provision of formwork works services as the sole operating and
reportable segment throughout the reporting periods, as the
Group and CODM manage the business as a whole and information
reported to the CODM, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment, are prepared as a whole of the sole business. No other
discrete financial information was provided other than the Group'’s
results and financial position as a whole.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
place of the Group's operation is in Hong Kong. All of the Group's
revenue from external customers during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 is derived from Hong Kong and all of the Group's
assets and liabilities are located in Hong Kong. Accordingly, only
entity-wide disclosures and major customers are presented.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE RS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

%)

ok

BE R}

EXeERIBRERRE(TELE
RRE D EEARE X REHR
Bk TR - 350 B (RS HIE W
ERE—RKZERAZ2HNE - AR
AEERTELERREREBRRR
EREE URBERIELFEZAE
B MEELERRERENEMIT
EERERNE —XBEE - RAK
BEBXENMBARI - REHE
B EE -

KRR B —HEEZRAR kA&
ELBMEEZWMURES - AEE
REZE_ZE_AFREK_FT_MF=A4
—t+—BHLEFENREINBEFLHFT
BRABHREESE  MASENE
BENBBEHURESE Al 22
NEBEEANBERENREIER
}5 o

FREEFEFHNEHR

RAIBRIEE (h AR E AU A FRE1 0%
ZERWANT ¢

2025 2024

—E-RE —EPUF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHEIT

Customer A BEPA 247,395 247,354

Customer B ®FB 61,716 182,408

Customer C BEC 40,732 N/A Note

N3 A s

Customer D =FD N/A Note 88,592
TiE W

Customer E BFE N/A Note 67,022
T e

Note: The customers contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the
Group for the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

7. OTHERINCOME H A

2025 2024
—E-HE —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Gain on early termination of lease AT I E W = 19
Bank interest income RITFBUA = 3
=5 22

* Represents amount less than HK$1,000 * LEAAHN,0008 T
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e MR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS

REAE EEEEL T HRIEE

MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL BR[O FRE
2025 2024
—E-RHE —ZE 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Impairment losses under expected TREEE EEER T HRERE
credit loss model, net; (Note) B F8E (W5)
- trade receivables -E SRR 60,687 19,398
- unbilled revenue - REBEWA 2,272 236
- retention receivables - FERRE & 36,950 3,046
99,909 22,680
Note: BI5E

Details of impairment losses under expected credit loss model are set out in

FEHEEEERAE A RESENFIEHR

Note 37(b). RETEE31(0)

9. FINANCE COSTS YR I
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Interests on: LT&ERNE :

- interest-bearing borrowings -FTEEE 1,930 1,798
- lease liabilities -HEaE 53 103
- LSP obligation - RERBLEE 116 106
2,099 2,007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

10. FIEMRIX

2025 2024
—EC°hHF —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHET

Hong Kong Profits Tax: ERNEBR
- current year - NEE - -
Deferred tax (Note 24) EIEFIE (B 5E24) 235 122
Income tax expenses PRSI FXX 235 122

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which the group entities
are domiciled and operated. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of
the Cayman Islands and BVI, the Group is not subject to any income
tax from the group entities established in the Cayman Islands and
BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of
the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

No provision of Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 as the subsidiaries of the Group in
Hong Kong have made tax losses or have no assessable profits.
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BB HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

The tax expense for the years can be reconciled to the loss before

10.

PS> (48)

BEENREBEHARAT A EEE

tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other aEmkEM R ERPORTA
comprehensive income as follows: EEEER
2025 2024
—E-RHF —E_mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss before tax BR T AT SR (105,176) (32,274)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of — ZAMFTSH %L 16.5%
16.5% (2024 16.5%) (ZZTZMF - 16.5%) 5 EH
iR (17,354) (5,325)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR T IS5 2 &
for tax purpose 16,627 613
Tax effect of income not taxable PARMBWANTRIEZE
for tax purpose - (M
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RERBEBENTH L 962 4,835
Income tax expenses PRSHFIS 235 122
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LOSS BEFORE TAX 1M

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging:

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

. BRTRAE1E

BRIZATEEC IR T 5 &8

2025 2024
—E-EHEF —EpUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FHET
Auditors’ remuneration A CTE
- Audit service - ZER TS 1,000 1,000
- Non-audit service - IR 320 -
Staff costs (including directors’ ETRA(BIEEEHH
emolument (Note 12)) (Ft3E12))
- salaries, wages, allowance and other - %& « T4 2 EEME
benefits in kind YrtE 258,853 358,111
- retirement benefits schemes - RURRBAIFT SR
contributions 7,506 9,097
- service cost of long service - REIRRTS & B BRI A AR
payments 668 928
Total staff costs (Note i) 8 T AL RR (5D 267,027 368,136
Cost of materials recognised as cost of B #7222 BRFS A A B9 Ak A
services 49,244 103,707
Depreciation included in cost of services 5T ARRFSRK AL I E 10,143 12,705
Depreciation included in administrative  5F ATTE R HAAL & RS MITE
and other operating expenses 900 1,045
Total depreciation TERE 11,043 13,750
Subcontracting fees recognised as cost DR ABREK AN D B E
of services 39,024 63,579
Loss on written-off of property, plant WEEYE - BEREBZER
and equipment - 59

Note:

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2025, total staff costs of
HK$264,173,000 (2024: HK$356,096,000) were included in cost of
services. The remaining staff costs were recognised in administrative
and other operating expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_RF=A=+—AILHFE

12. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 12. EERERTTBRAEMSE
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed TR A 8 AR Bl R BB 2 RHER B
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong BENEZERESTHRABERFED
Companies Ordinance, is as follows: BlenT -

Salaries,
allowances  Retirement
and other benefits
Directors' benefits schemes
fees inkind contributions Total
E i 4:1
REM RIREF
-tk BYEA BEEEA #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTHET TET TAET
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-Z-"hF=A
=t+-BLEFE
Executive directors: HITES :
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (Chairman ~ Z{T#ER 4
and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFTHAEZ)
Mr. Leung Wing Chun REESE
Mr. Leung Chau Ming RRALE
Non-executive director: FHTEE -
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang EmEkE
Independent non-executive BUFHITESE -
directors:
Ms. Wu Kin Yi Ll
Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun ik
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin (resigned on LHEBRE (R-FE-WF
15 November 2024) +—A+EARET)
Mr. Lei Nelson (@ppointed on FHRESE (R -F_MF
15 November 2024) +—HA1TEAEZE)
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12. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

12. EENESITRAEME @

(CONTINUED)
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other benefits
Directors' benefits schemes
fees inkind  contributions Total
oo R
EA RIREER
Eika EWiEF SRR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THT TR
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-ZE_MF=A
Zt-BLEEE
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (Chairman ~ B{IRERAE
and Chief Executive Officer) (FERTB#EZ) - 1,711 - 1,71
Mr. Leung Wing Chun REEEE - 884 18 902
Mr. Leung Chau Ming (appointed on ~ BoBARAE R - E-=4F
22 September 2023) NAZ+ZHEZ() - 103 6 109
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi (resigned on RRBFER_F_=F
22 September 2023) NA=Z+=AEF) - 984 18 1,002
Non-executive director: HHTESE :
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang ks 120 - - 120
Independent non-executive directors: BUHHTEE :
Ms. Wu Kin Yi (appointed on Rt (R-FE-mF
15 February 2024) ZATHAEZEE) 15 - - 15
Mr. Tang Tsz Tsun (appointed on BrhEER_F_=F
22 September 2023) NAZ+=—REZHF) 63 - - 63
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin (appointed on BBEER-_F-=
22 September 2023) NAZF+=AEZE) 63 - - 63
Mr. Ng Lin Fung (resigned on REBFER_F_HF
15 February 2024) ZATHASHT) 219 - - 219
Mr. Chu Hau Lim (retired on RERRER-_ZF-_=F
22 September 2023) NA=+=HHE) 72 - - 72
Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond PREFER-F-ZF
(resigned on 22 September 2023) NA=+=AEHE) 57 - - 57
609 3,682 42 4,333
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

12. DIRECTORS'AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

(b)  The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for his
services as director of the Company and the Group.

(c)  The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as Directors.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief

executive officer waived any remuneration during the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
include two (2024: one) directors, details of whose remuneration are
set out in Note 12 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining three (2024: four) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13.

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

hamkmFMAL

AERARELERFHNEETE
EME(CE_NE  —R)EF - HHF
BB RN EXMEE12 - FRESR=
FH(ZF-MF  OR)FARAEFL
ERTBRABNESHHIES 2 %M
ABT

2025 2024
—E-RE —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Salaries, allowances and e EMEEMEMETR
other benefits in kind 2,764 5,593

Retirement benefits schemes R KRB FIFTEI R H KR

contributions 50 54
2,814 5,647

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
Directors or chief executives whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

FEFIRSTHRABNZFME
BZMENFTHREOAZRDT

Number of individuals

AE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EPOF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0005 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001% 7% 1,500,000 7T 1 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001% 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T - 1
3 4

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any of the Directors or the five highest paid individuals
of the Group as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office (2024: Nil).

BE_ZT_AF=R=+—BLItF
B AEBEMEAXNEEZEAES
S hfUmESHFMA LTINS - 1F
AR F DA SN A £R B B ) 22
BB mE (T -mE - &) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE RS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

14. DIVIDENDS 14. &8
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of BHE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HItF
the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025, nor has any B RNRRAE BRI EEIRSE
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2024: &K BEEARE - BREPERIAR
Nil). MEEZREEARE(ZT_MF
) o
15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. BRkEE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to RRREBABEEREARARESE
owners of the Company is based on the following data: BRI T8IETH -
2025 2024
—E-HEF T OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss attributable to owners RARHEA ANEIGEE
of the Company (105,441) (32,396)
2025 2024
—EC-HEF T OF
‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Number of shares: RHEE -
Weighted average number of ordinary AR EESREAEIEZ
shares for purpose of basic loss =Rl B ok
per share 1,600,000 1,600,000
No diluted loss per share for both 2025 and 2024 were presented BHREZE_ZT-_AF=A=+—HBK
as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both years —E_NE=ZA=+—HIFEHE
ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024. BEERTEEERR H_T_AFR

—EOMEHESREEES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - W Lk
Metal
scaffold
equipment
and Furniture
Right-of-use related and Computer

assets parts fixtures  Decoration  equipment Total
£ [ES

REEE REEZH HRREKE £ EhR @t

HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TEL TEL TiEn TEL

(Note a)
(Firsta)

CosT N
At 1 April 2023 W-B-=%NA-A 2512 53,637 233 1,035 33 57450
Additions NE 734 - - - - 734
Early termination of a lease MAOMRA L (992) - - - - (992)
Written-off ke - - - 410) - (410)
At 31 March 2024 and RZB-MEZA=1+-8BRK

31 March 2025 —“E-REZA=+-H 2,254 53,637 233 625 33 56,782
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ Z:HTERFE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2023 W-B-=%£mA-AH 620 30,079 158 709 33 31,599
Provided for the year FREE 945 12,705 45 55 - 13,750
Impairment loss recognised ERETEANHESR

in profit or loss - 700 - - - 700
Early termination of a lease ROMRAELE (517) - - - - (517)
Written-off ik - - - (351) - (351)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=A=+-H 1,048 43484 203 413 33 45,181
Provided for the year ERERE 797 10,153 30 63 - 11,043
At 31 March 2025 R-B-RE=A=+-AH 1,845 53,637 233 476 33 56,224
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RE=ZF=1-H 409 = = 149 = 558
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-ME=F=1-H 1,206 10,153 30 212 - 11,601
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life as follows:

Decoration

16. W% - WBE K& E @

tamE - BERRERBREMG
AERFRAERETERT ¢

Right-of-use assets Over the term of the lease EREEE HEHRHA
Metal scaffold equipment and related parts 4 years cEAERSEREBTH 45
Furniture and fixtures 4 years ERMREE 4F
4-10 years =& 4-10%
Computer equipment 4 years B AE 4%
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHAEEE
The Group as lessee REBEELSEEA
Leased
properties
HEME
HK$'000
FAET
As at 31 March 2025 R-B-AF=A=+—H
Carrying amount AREE 409
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_WF=A=1t—H
Carrying amount AREE 1,206
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_Z_OF=A=+—-HLEFE
Depreciation charge TEER 797
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_ZT_MFE=A=+—HILFE
Depreciation charge HEER 945
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

ME -~ BEMEE@
(a) ERAEEE®

The Group as lessee (Continued) REBYEREABAEE)
2025 2024
—EREF —ETgE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHET
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLARE 864 1,010
Additions to right-of-use assets FIGEREEE - 734
Early termination of a lease AR AIAR L = 475

For both years, the Group lease various offices and warehouses
in Hong Kong for its daily operation. The lease contracts are
entered into fixed term from 2 to 3 years (2024: 2 to 3 years).
Lease term is negotiated on an individual basis. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancelled
period, the Group applied the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

TR — S - : —

HREMBFEMS - ARELSEAE
EEREZAMLNEENRAERR
E-HEAOMBEERRA2EIF (=
T N4 2FE3F) o MEMNZERIER
W o PO E FH B R R (4 T A BUB HB
BORER AKERERAEONTER
WHETE A KT ITEV AR o
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17. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, as the formwork works
business in Hong Kong incurred an operating loss, the management
of the Group concluded there was indication for impairment
and conducted impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) with gross carrying
amounts of approximately HK$12,301,000.

The recoverable amount of that cash-generating unit has been
determined based on the value in use calculation prepared
by the management of the Group. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management of the Group covering the following 5 years with a
pre-tax discount rate of 11.59%. The annual growth rate used is
approximately 2.0%, which is based on the cash-generating units’
past performance and management expectations for the market
development. The financial model assumes a terminal growth rate of
2.0% taking into account of the inflation rate.

Management determined the budgeted sales and gross margins
based on past performance, expectation for the market development
and planned business strategy. The discount rate used is pre-tax
and reflects specific risks relating to formwork works business.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

ME - BENMEEBERERAEER
EE R R ERTHE

BHE_Z-_NWE=A=+—HI&F
E - AR EEMER IREERRESL
EEE AEEEEERAGTERE
mxR - WEYE - BRERZEEEE
AEEE)ETRES  BRMAED
512,301,000/ 7T °

ZHRESELBEMMAIRE S ETRIE
REBEEREERENEREBTEE
o i BEERARBEAEEEREH
EMBMBEEFRENR S RETEAN
MEBRREF - WHA11.59%8F
REE -FEANFERENA
20% ERBESELBEMNBAERR
MEBEHMSERNTER - WKiE
AKERBIRE  BEEREBEXRA
2.0% °

BEEREBERE  MHEEREY
Rt XBRE  BEREHEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, based on the result of the
assessment, the management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is lower than
the carrying amount. The impairment loss has been allocated to
property, plant and equipment (including right-of use assets) such
that the carrying amount of the underlying asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less cost of disposal, its value in
use and zero. Based on the value in use calculation, impairment loss
of HK$700,000 has been recognised against the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

17. 9% - BB EREREREE

B BB RHE ()

BHE_Z-_MWE=A=+—HI&F
B REBEFAGER  AEEERBEEE
ERESEEBMMATKRESEENE
HE - BEEEBEYEEVE  HE
RB(RECAEEE)  FHEZE
EMNRTDETEAEQFER D E/K
K -FHEBERZEZFHNTEEE R
BEREENE  #E_T-_MF=
A=+T—HLFE  BEERVE K
BREEBECREEE) 2 REER
{EE51E700,000/8 7T °

8. B 5 MU AR S B Ath FE U R K

2025 2024
—E-RE —E e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade receivables of construction works BT I8 5 fE BRI 296,971 356,950
Less: Allowance for ECL B TEHMEE RS (82,783) (22,096)
214,188 334,854
Other receivables E b pE I BR X

Deposits and other receivables 12 & I B fth JE W AR R 544 92

Trade and other receivables, net B SRR EA
WS AR ST 58 214,732 334,946

As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to approximately HK$309,836,000 (net of allowance of
ECL of approximately HK$2,698,000).

TR — S - : —

R-E-_=FNA—H BFFAH
K& 5 EUER K A %7309,836,000/8 7T
(0B TE A= B B 1B B 15549 2,698,0007
J0) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 18. B FEUNER N M E b fE W BR 7K

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for ECL)
based on the date of issuance of the payment certificates issued
by customers/correspondence with customers at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

(&)

RBER  RETFZHLOIANE
BRTAY  BHEFBEMNZEHEK
RGN TESEEBERE NIREKR D
W

2025 2024

—E-hHF —T-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Within 30 days 30BA 11,694 69,484
31 to 60 days 31260H 23,967 49,694
61 to 90 days 61£90H 605 40,228
Over 90 days but less than 1 year HEIORER —FA 11,690 164,442
Over 1 year HBilm—F 166,232 11,006
214,188 334,854

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group's trade receivables
balances are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$202,494,000 (2024: approximately
HK$265,370,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out
of the past due balances, approximately HK$166,311,000 (2024:
HK$163,632,000) have been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default based on the historical settlement for those
debtors.

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade receivables.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in Note 31(b).

R-ZE-_RAF=ZA=+—H A£EE
MNEZRKEREHPRIEEREE
B#49202,494,0008 L (Z 2 M4 -
47265,370,000/8 L) M@ A EE A -
ZEREERESBHC A - £aH
FIAR - #9166,311,0008 L (ZZE =
PU4 : 163,632,000 7T) 2 # EH90K
AL BERRZEEBSANE LS
- A TR AELD -

AEBEY ELE F R A M
HHm -

B 5 e W R R % EL At B R SRORUE R
R B BN EE31(b) °
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iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

19. CONTRACT ASSETS 19. BHEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-mEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FBT FHET
Contract assets arising from construction JREAHNTRRMANEE
contracts
Unbilled revenue of construction works FEERETRIA (i) 53,144 7,020
Retention receivables of construction BETEERIRES (ii)
works 114,990 99,581
168,134 106,601
Less: Allowance for ECL B BHEEEEEE (42,744) (3,522)
125,390 103,079

As at 1 April 2023, contract assets amounted to approximately
HK$127,985,000 (net of allowance for ECL of approximately
HK$240,000).

Information about the Group's exposure to credit risks for contract
assets is included in Note 31(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Notes:

@)

(i)

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group's
right to receive consideration for work completed and not yet billed
because the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the
customers on the construction works completed by the Group and the
works are pending for the certification by the customers. The contract
assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group obtains the
certification of the completion construction works from the customers.
The increase in unbilled revenue is due to increased progress of
certain projects close to year ended 31 March 2025.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represents the
Group's right to receive consideration for work performed because
the rights are conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by
the customers over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.
The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date of
the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on the service
quality of the construction works performed by the Group.

RZE-_=ZFWNA—H GHEEN
£127,985,0007% 7t (30 B £9240,0005
TTRTEEEEEEEE) -

BERARBERANEEMAEEGNEER
RBRHERSENGEA M ERRME
31(b) °

GG

) AHEEPHRFBRAERNEER
ERIENAMENTRREIRRED
B RRABBENAEGEFRE
ANEBTKNBEETREHAEER
ERTIRACEFRRE - ANEER
AR AEGRGRBEAEAEER
BEREBERIRETRRNREN)
HEHEE S BRI o K EBUAL
MIEREBE_E-_AFE=A=+—
BIFFEERTTETIREREM
o

(i) AHNEETHREEFRESEASER
EETHIRRMAENERN - R
ERBEENAGEPRNANMBRE
METHRASRBEENERTA
1EE - BHEENERN R EIGTR
CAERASEREETHRETR
AR 7% 8 52 L OR 35 /0 HARR 2 i By ) 18
BB I RMEN -
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e MR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

19. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED) 19. BREE®E)
(a) Expected timing of recovery or settlement for (a) EHEENRBREREER
contract assets &
The Group classifies these contract assets as current because REBBZEENEEDBRRNM
the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating BEE - DHRAEEEHNHE
cycle. FEEERMANSRZEEE -
(b) Allowance for ECL (b) EHEEHERE
The movement in the provision for loss allowance for contract BREEFERBRBIRES N
assets is as follows: ™~
2025 2024
—E_-_RE —E P
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAT
At the beginning of the reporting period 7 ¥ 25 B 9] 3,522 240
Provision for loss allowance BEEETTR 39,222 3,282
At the end of the reporting period RS HR 42,744 3,522
20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. e NBREFEY

Bank balances carry interest at variable market rates. Cash and cash
equivalents include demand deposits and short-term deposits for
the purpose of meeting the Group's short-term cash commitments,
which carry interest at market rates range from 0%-0.251% (2024:
0%-0.435%).

Details of impairment assessment of cash and cash equivalents for
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are set out in Note 31(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. B HRENERF M H M ERRK
2025 2024
—EZHE —E-mEF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FET THT
Trade payables 2 S REMNERER () 13,696 14,004
Other payables: Hb AR -
Salaries and other employee benefits FE B R E M E B 18
payables ol 16,719 37,701
Accruals and other payables FEETE A N H AN B
B 1,000 1,000
17,719 38,701
31,415 52,705
Analysed for reporting purpose as: MEMBOATSE
Non-current liabilities JEREEE (b) 4,735 3,951
Current liabilities mEAE 26,680 48,754
31,415 52,705
Notes: BT -
(@)  The credit period on trade payables are generally O to 90 days (2024: (@ EBIHENEFNEEHR-—MRF/0E0

0 to 90 days). H(ZZE M4 : 0£90R) °

At the end of the year, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based RER  ERBEZEHNE S RN

on invoice date is as follows: FREERE DT -
2025 2024
—ERHEF —ZmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FiET
Within 60 days 608 A 10,998 14,002
61 to 90 days 61%90H 1,996 -
Over 90 days H83890H 702 2
13,696 14,004
(b)  The balance represents the closing LSP unfunded obligation shown (b) HEHRERIERDEETETRNHRE

HIRB 2 RN EE - RENRHR
B IBERERHEE27 -

under non-current liabilities. Details of unfunded LSP obligation is
disclosed in Note 27.
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n‘l—ﬁ

BB HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

22.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 22. FHEEE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—8H
2025 2024
ZE-RE e S 112
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THER FET
Secured bank borrowings that contain EBREREEKEZZ  (a) & (b)
a repayment on demand clause EERMIETEER 60,242 53,725
The carrying amounts of the above MEE 2 RESFREAR
borrowings are repayable*: J«/(Tﬁsﬁﬁﬁfai%* :
Within one year —FR 52,888 45,551
Within a period of more than one RiEER—FENER
year but not exceeding two years MFHBR 820 791
Within a period of more than two REBMWFETEBR
years but not exceeding five years hEEREA 2,646 2,552
More than five years tEE T F 3,888 4,831
60,242 53,725

*

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreement.

Notes:

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had renewed
a revolving loan with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 (2024:
HK$20,000,000), which is interest-bearing at Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rates ("HIBOR") plus 2.5% (2024: HIBOR plus 2.5%) per annum
and maturing in April 2025 (2024: matured in May 2024).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had drawn
down loans from a bank with an aggregate principal amount of
approximately HK$24,789,000, which is interest-bearing at HIBOR plus
2.5% per annum and maturing by July 2024. During the year ended 31
March 2025, the Group had drawn down loans from a bank with an
aggregate principal amount of approximately HK$27,134,000, which is
interest-bearing at HIBOR plus 2.5% per annum and maturing by July
2025.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had bank overdrafts
of HK$4,963,000 (2024: Nil), which carry interest at HIBOR + 3% per
annum.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

FH S R IR E R T 5B R FRE
ERAHEE -

BHE-_Z_RAF=A=Z+—8H1
FE zrsﬁlaif,ﬁﬂaxé%%ﬁﬁ
20,000,000 L (=T — M 4F :
20,000,000 L) MTEIRE 3K + HiZ
EBBRTRERS(EBRTEER
BM2.5% (=T =—MF « HHERIT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

The above interest-bearing borrowings with carrying amount of
HK$34,858,000 (2024: HK$28,838,000) and HK$17,239,000 (2024:
HK$15,951,000) are secured by corporate guarantee provided by the
Company, and guaranteed by HKMC Insurance Limited and personal
guarantee provided by a director of the Company, respectively.

In respect of interest-bearing borrowing with carrying amounts of
HK$34,858,000 and HK$17,239,000 (total: HK$52,097,000) as at 31
March 2025, the Group has breached the financial covenants, which
the Group's consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation,
and amortisation shall not at any time be less than HK$30,000,000 and
Group's average deposit maintained with the bank (as the lender) shall
not be less than HK$10,000,000, respectively. Due to the challenging
economic conditions in the Hong Kong property market, the Company
has started renegotiating the terms of the borrowing with the relevant
bank. As at 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report, although
those negotiations are still ongoing, the lender has not demanded
immediate payment of the interest-bearing borrowings and the
Company assessed that the lender would not demand immediate
repayment in the 12 months period after year end as the Company
had maintained a good relationship with the lender and the Company
has repeatedly repaid and drawn down interest-bearing borrowings
under the same facilities during the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Directors are confident of reaching a successful conclusion. Should
immediate repayment be required, the Directors believe that adequate
internal and alternative financing sources are available to ensure the
Group's operations and ability to repay creditors remain unaffected.

In February 2024, the Group had drawn down a 100% guarantee
installment loan from the bank with principal amount of HK$9,000,000
which bear interest at Hong Kong Prime rate minus 2.5% per annum
and maturing in January 2034. The loan is fully guaranteed by HKMC
Insurance Limited and personal guarantee provided by a director of
the Company.

All the interest-bearing borrowings that are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars.
At 31 March 2025, the weighted average effective interest rate on the

interest-bearing borrowings is 5.69% (2024: 6.69%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has available and unutilised facilities
from the bank amounted to HK$903,000 (2024: HK$23,211,000).

= R~ : BENES=S =T S

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

22. FIEEE@

GEE

(@)

(&)
(%)

Tt BREE A34,858,0008 T (=
T4 28,838,000/ L)
17,239,000t (=T = MF :
15,951,000 70) 2 5F BEE D Rl H
AABEHAGIER - BBRBES
BRARERMEADNR —RERREMR
& A EARVEIEIF -

R-E_RAF=—A=T—BREE
7$34,858,000/8 7T % 17,239,000/
JL(#8%8 © 52,097,000% ) 25 &
BE  NEBBERMBREE - A
REBEMERKHEZ REFE - B
B FEREHEZERRNTEIR
30,000,000/ T K A& BT MR R
TUEREFR N ZFBRERIE IR
10,000,000 7T - AR EEY XTI
R ERATTRB - ARFEFS
HEMRITENHIERRR - RN =
Z_RE=ZA=+—RAREEARE
BH BEZSERNELTD B
ERANEE R AR EEG BEE
MARE G - HRARBEERKA
—ERFREBEER BBE_T A
FZA=1T—HLLFE  ARFEAEZ
REEFRERRA—FEE THEEE
5 MERATERFHERNI12(EA
HAFA) 2SR BR R AR

BEEHEORARIIEKDZ - W
BYHER  ERAEARMZAM
RERBERR  UERASENE
ENEEERANENTZZE

R-ZB-WFE-A > AEBDHR
TIRIM—27AK % %9,000,0007 L&Y
100% R ME K - LFMEFE
REBENTR2.5%TE » TR —F=
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BRERRBZEER  AHARE—
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FRBAETTAHENGREE -

R-E-RAF=RA=+—H 8%
KEEFHERFEATF5.69%
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EETUHHABBRGHZIRITH
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

23. LEASES LIABILITIES 23. HE&A®E
The Group as lessee: REBEREMEA
2025 2024
—EB-ARE —E-mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEESR -
Within one year —FR 448 812
Within a period of more than one year R —FETEBMFHARA
but not exceeding two years - 448
448 1,260
Less: Amount due for settlement with & = 712168 A R E 8 2 3/I851 A
12 months shown under mEAE
current liabilities (448) (812)
Amount due for settlement after B ER e mNI2E R RERA
12 months shown under ERBBEE
non-current liabilities - 448

The Group discounted lease payment using its incremental
borrowing rate from 4.4% to 7.2% (2024: 4.4% to 7.2%).

24. DEFERRED TAXATION

24.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

for financial reporting purposes:

AEBZEEEEENERLA%ET 2%
ZENE 4 4A%ET2%)EEIBRHEE
H/TA °

EFEF IR

%TEZ*/—\BM%#L%%EP%W =T
RERBEELRBBEDRIERE - LT
R BREN E BEEHBLEHD
M

2025 2024

—E-RE ZEUF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

Deferred tax assets EIEF I E E = 235
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE - i
- 285
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24. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The following is the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised
and movements thereon during the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024:

24.

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

RAETIE (8)
UWTNAEZ T _HAFN_ZT _MN4F
A+ HLFENEERAEEE
EFIBEE BB MNEEE) :

Depreciation

Tax losses ECL  allowances Total
HHEE
BIEEE &8 WERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2023 R-E-=FmMA—H 1,754 357 (1,754) 357
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (BB FABZE
(Note 10) (H3E10) (1,672) (122) 1,672 (122)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZ-_WF=A=+—H
kZT-mFMA—H 82 235 (82) 235
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (BEZMR)GAER
(Note 10) (HzE10) (82) (235) 82 (235)

At 31 March 2025 RIBE-RFE=A=+—H =

The Group has not recognised tax losses of HK$43,397,000 (2024:
HK$37,567,000) as deferred tax assets as it is not probable that
sufficient profits will be available to allow the tax losses to be utilised
in the foreseeable future. The tax losses do not expire under current
tax legislation.

& BN EERTIEEE 43,397,000
BIT(ZZ 4% : 37,567,000 7T) &
BREMIBEE - REASNRA AREDT
KA E RS EFRE A IBEIE -
RIBRITHBED - HIBEBEBYER
AR o

REEEZERBRARF G 2024/25
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

25.

26.

SHARE CAPITAL 25. B
Number
of shares Amount
R BB o]
‘000 HK$'000
T’ FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREMEC.0EITH EER
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 RZE-_=FIMA—H -
and 31 March 2025 “EONF=A=t—HRK
—E-HFE=ZRA=+—H 4,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: BETMER -
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_=FMYAF—AH -
and 31 March 2025 TENF=A=F+—BRK
—E_RE=RA=+—H 1,600,000 16,000
RESERVES 26.
(a) Share premium (a) B@RE
Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from R EEERETRAAIRNES
issuance of the Company’'s shares over its par value. Under B PIT 1S SR IE% R 8 2 HL I {E 7O &F
the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company's Articles of fn - RIBEFSHEEN RARF]
Association, it is distributable to the Company’s shareholders WAEBEIRMA - ZEBEAD
provided that the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall KT ARRBIRRE - EARRIER
due in the ordinary course of business. O NBEEXGARREPIIAE
R ER -
(b) Capital reserve (b) EXRRHE
Capital reserve of the Group represents the aggregate REBNERFERAKASEER

amount of the issued and paid-up share capital of the
entities comprising the Group before completion of the
reorganisation for the listing of the Company's shares in 2020
less consideration paid to acquire the relevant interests (if any)
in relation to the reorganisation.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a monthly cap of HK$1,500. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had no forfeited contribution
available to reduce its contributions to the retirement benefits
schemes in future years.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of approximately
HK$7,506,000 (2024: approximately HK$9,097,000) represents
contributions paid and payable to these schemes by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the schemes. As at 31 March 2025,
contributions of approximately HK$796,000 (2024: HK$807,000) due
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2025 had not been paid over
to the MPF Schemes. The amounts were paid subsequent to the end
of the reporting period.

Defined benefit plan

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57)

For the group entities operating in Hong Kong, pursuant to the
Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the Group has the obligation
to pay LSP to qualifying employees in Hong Kong under certain
circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers or upon retirement),
subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based on the
following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) X 2/3 x
Years of service

27.

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

ERREA TS
EREMNRGE

AEBERMEBEAREREERER
HlEATEEEE - RIBZETE - BE
LHEEEZEARESEABEALSY
AErEIEHER - EEARKERS
1,50087C » sElZ EEHAX AR
PESBINANEENEEZI -
AE BB T ERAKS%R &3
o B BIMELARRI L A 3R -

R-E-_RAFR-_T-_NMF=ZA=+
— B AEBEIEEA DR 2 MR
A AR LA SR, A E oK 2R 4F FE E R R 48 AT

B 215K -

RERKER 2 BMEZ4 57,506,000
BIT(ZZEZHFE : £949,097,000%
70) - EASERIEZERE 2 RAFT
TR RENZER RZTE_AF=
A=+—H ' #796,0008t (===
U4 : 807,000 ) EREEZ —F =
AF=ZA=+—HIEFEIFOHK
WA ERESFE o ZFERR
HHIREB T -

EEERNE

REFBRRBIEM(F57F) N RH
Rz EE

HREBTBLENKEER  REF
BRERREEN(FS7E)  AEEBEE
B TERT (G0 e £ MR E SR IR
B AT aERNEEREXNRER
Be o AReREZRGHEL SR
FoETEAAMT

REBATE@IEEBAA X 2/3 xR
BEH

REEEZERBRARF G 2024/25

157



158

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (CONTINUED)

Defined benefit plan (Continued)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57) (Continued)

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount of
LSP shall not exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as
a post-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof,
for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the
"Offsetting Arrangement”).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June 2022, which
abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Abolition
will officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e. 1 May 2025).
Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also expected to
introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25
years after the Transition Date on the LSP payable by employers up
to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group's mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns, after
the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-
Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-
Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligation
before the Transition Date will be grandfathered and calculated
based on the last monthly wages immediately preceding the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (CONTINUED) 27. RREFIEE )
Defined benefit plans (Continued) ERBANEE)
LSP obligation RERGE2EE
Movements in the present value of unfunded LSP obligation in the RAFEE  RBENORERBEEME
current year were as follows: REZHIAT
2025 2024
—E-HE —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Opening unfunded obligation REA—B2Z BORENEE
at 1 April 3,951 2,917
Current service cost for the year AN [Z RV AR AR 5 B AR 668 928
Interest cost B 116 106
Closing unfunded obligation R=A=+—HBZHERREBNE
at 31 March (Note) £ () 4,735 3,951
Note: The weighted average duration of the LSP obligation at 31 March Mzt : RZTE-_RAF=RA=+—HHEKH
2025 is 2.35 years (2024: 2.61). AR 7% & B E I T EPR /A2.354F

(ZZ U4 : 2614) »

REEEEBRARAT £452024025 159
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

27.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (CONTINUED)
Defined benefit plan (Continued)
LSP obligation (Continued)

The current service cost of approximately HK$668,000 (2024
HK$928,000) for the year have been included in cost of services and
administrative expenses. The interest expense of approximately
HK$116,000 (2024: HK$106,000) for the year has been included in
finance cost.

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the LSP
obligation are discount rate of 3.43% (2024: 3.63%) and expected
salary increase of 2.97% (2024: 3.03%). The sensitivity analysis below
have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the
respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period,
while holding all other assumptions constant.

e If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher (lower), the
LSP obligation would decrease by approximately HK$91,000
(increase by approximately HK$95,000) (2024: decrease
by approximately HK$82,000 (increase by approximately
HK$86,000).

e If the expected salary increases (decreases) by 1%, the LSP
obligation would increase by approximately HK$21,000
(decrease by approximately HK$21,000) (2024: increase
by approximately HK$20,000 (decrease by approximately
HK$20,000).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative
of the actual change in the LSP obligation as it is unlikely that the
change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as
some of the assumptions may be correlated.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

28. RELATED PARTY/CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 28. BAHE HiE
(a) Related party transactions (a) BHAIXRS
The Group has following related party transactions during the RAEERBE_Z-_nFRk=
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024: —HE=RA= ‘1’ H ¢¢r‘ﬁu
TRBARS :
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE_mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Repayment of lease liabilities to a m—EEEAEERHEESR
group of lessors in which a director & " EF ' ARAIEZER
of the Company and certain family ~ AAR B —HBEZZET

members of another director of KK ERIEMEEES
the Company have ownership PRE e
interest in an underlying asset 480 480
(b) Remuneration for key management personnel (b) AEEFEEEBAR(BREE
(including directors) of the Group =) FH M
2025 2024
—E-RFE ZEUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
Salaries, allowances and other e EMEEMEDETR
benefits in kind 3,319 4,291
Retirement benefits schemes IR A FT B
contributions 30 42
3,349 4,333
Further details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in EREETHINNE—PHEBIRN
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. REVEHREMFEI2 -

FREEEERERART £5202425 161
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e MR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash

20. MEEHELZAE

B HR

TRALANEEAREEHELNE

15 ek Ej]

BRREMFRSE

° @t

éfxﬁ%b}ZEZE E%ﬁim%ﬁ&ﬂ#

flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in the Group's RAEBGERERERALMEE
consolidated statement of cash flows from financing activities: RO BE
Interest-
bearing Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
HEEE HEBE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
At 1 April 2023 RZZE-_=FWA—H 47,488 1,927 49,415
Change from cash flows: *g i@i\aﬁiz 2%
Repayment of leases BEMEE - (907) (907)
New interest-bearing borrowings BEMAEEE
raised 101,367 - 101,367
Repayment of interest-bearing BEMEEE
borrowings (95,066) - (95,066)
Interest paid ERFE (1,862) (103) (1,965)
4,439 (1,010) 3,429
Non-cash changes: HHL#E) -
New lease entered BEINHHEE - 734 734
Early termination of a lease MERAAR L - (494) (494)
Interest expenses FMBEMRX 1,798 103 1,901
1,798 343 2,141
At 31 March 2024 RZEZWF=A=1+—H 53,725 1,260 54,985
Change from cash flows: L g i@fmgz 28
Repayment of leases BERE = (812) (812)
New interest-bearing borrowings SR EEE
raised 131,649 - 131,649
Repayment of interest-bearing BERFREE
borrowings (125,132) - (125,132)
Interest paid BEAFE (1,930) (53) (1,983)
4,587 (865) 3,722
Non-cash changes: R EE -
Interest expenses MER X 1,930 53 1,983
At 31 March 2025 R-B-RF=A=+—H 60,242 448 60,690
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

31.

The objectives of the Group's capital management are to safeguard
its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital and to support
the Group's stability and growth. The management consider the
total equity as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position as the Group's capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholders’
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of
the Group. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares or return capital to shareholders. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

(a) Categories of financial instruments

30.

31.

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

CENEN =t

AEBEAERZ ARABRIBEL
BN UREBERBRREHDO®RRES
HiFhEH RN - #FREEXRN
BBUREEARKA @ UXFHAEE
ZRELER - EEESHZEAMBMN
MEPRENERZESLARENE
o

AEEERBTHRTLERAER
2 DERREERAEBLBRR
Bk FAREBEIRNEERKER
Bk BT HIEHFARERERE - K
SEAREEABRET TRENKRES
B BIOTHMRKMBRRREER - &
ET_RAFERT_NMFE=/[=+
—HIEFE BEHEE BEXER

T mLE R B IR B AR MR

(a) EMIEAER

2025 2024
—E_RF —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets EREE
Amortised cost; IR ¢
Trade and other receivables B 5 e R % H At FE UG AR 3R 214,732 334,946
Contract assets BHEE 125,390 103,079
Cash and cash equivalents Be MR EEY 665 13,412
340,787 451,437
Financial liabilities tRIEE
At amortised cost; R AT 2
Trade and other payables B REMNBER N EMERIER 26,680 48,754
Interest-bearing borrowings STEEE 60,242 53,725
86,922 102,479
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ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

31.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 31. SREBREREBZENMBER®)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objective and policies (b) MEEREEBRERBEEK
The Group's financial instruments comprise trade and other AEENETRIABEEZRK
receivables, contract assets, bank balances and cash, trade ERREMERKER a0 E&
and other payables and interest-bearing borrowings. Details E-RITEBRLE:  ZEHE
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective BRI A A T BR R R GT B8
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments Ko ZEEMIAENFBENRESE
include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The P ieE - FlEZEeRIA
risks associated with these financial instruments and the B E e B E R E R - FEER
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The ERBERR BHEZECH
management of the Group manages and monitors these T A wy b & an )l 88 7% & Bl b
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented HBEEHNRTX - AEEHERE
in a timely and effective manner. ERRERZERR - BRKE
BROEMEEE B o
Interest rate risk 2= [ fax
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation AEEmREAEAEGERM
to, lease liabilities (see Note 23 for details). The Group is also H23) BBz AFEFERER
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable- AN 5 B I BR BY BR 1T A R
rate bank balances (see Note 20 for details) and variable-rate (FBRWFE200 M ZEIRITIEE
bank borrowings (see Note 22 for details). The Group's cash (FBRAWFE2EBZRERE
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation FMERR  AEENRESREFN
of interest rates on bank balances and HIBOR arising from the EEBEZEPERITEHRTIE
Group's borrowings. The Group aims at keeping borrowings BEBRARNEEERMELENE
at variable rates. The Group currently does not hedge its BIRITRIZEFE - AEEEER
exposure to interest rate risks. However, the management RERIRA BN ERGE - AEH
monitors the interest rate risk exposure closely and will 33 By 7 A 368 b B PATTED 9 A A SR
consider hedging significant interest rate risk exposure should % o i BIREE ) EEN X
the need arise. R A - WHEREREREE
HhBENTXRERKA o
Total interest income from financial assets that are measured REHKAT ENEREENA
at amortised cost: MEMA -
2025 2024
—E-HE —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets at amortised cost REH AT EN S RMEE = 3
* Represents amount less than HK$1,000 g ERFEDH1,0008 7T
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

e — S e

Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL:

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

TRRREE IR R

(b) BIBEBREEREBFERBEE

M= m g ()

REQAFEFABGENESREE
A B

2025 2024

—E-RE —EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THT FHET

Financial liabilities at amortised cost IS4 AT EN SR EE 1,930 1,798
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis points
increase or decrease in variable-rate bank borrowings are used
and represents management's assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded
from sensitivity analysis as the management considers that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-
rate bank balances is insignificant.

If the interest rate on bank borrowings had been 100 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's loss before tax for the year ended 31 March 2025
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$602,000 (2024:
loss before tax for the year ended 31 March 2024 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$537,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

31.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objective and policies

(Continued)
Operational risk assessment

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's exposure
to operational risk is primarily attributable to heavy reliance
on several major customers. The 3 (2024 4) largest customers
accounted for approximately HK$349,843,000 or 86.8% (2024:
approximately HK$585,376,000 or 96.3%) of the Group's total
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025. The Directors will
continue closely monitoring the performance and financial
position of this major customer to avoid any adverse impact on
the Group's financial position.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposure are
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, contract
assets and bank balances. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risk
associated with its financial assets and contract assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets and contract assets under ECL model. Information
about the Group'’s credit risk management, maximum credit
risk exposures and the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarised as below:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

T ——

Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers

In respect of trade receivables and contract assets, collective
credit evaluations are performed on all customers. Except for
trade receivables and contract assets which the management
of the Group considered as high uncertainty of recovery, which
are assessed for individually, the evaluations focus on the
customer’s financial position, past history of making payments
and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the counterparty operates. Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under the ECL model on its financial assets and
contract assets. In this regard, management considers that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk. As at 31 March
2025, 3 customers (2024: 4 customers) which individually
contributed over 10% of the Group's aggregate trade
receivables and contract assets. The aggregate amounts of
trade receivables and contract assets from these customers
amounted to approximately 72.0% (2024: approximately 88.6%)
of the Group's total gross trade receivables and contract assets
as at 31 March 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n‘l—ﬁ

BB HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

31.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objective and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables

The management makes periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The management
believes that there is no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based
on 12m ECL.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
assessed the ECL on deposits and other receivables are
insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognised.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for time deposit and bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on time deposit and bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance
was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B A 3R R M5

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objective and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

VAN
b2 N =]

31. eRERE

(b) BIBEBREEREBFERBEE

EERR

AEBAREERBRFFRIER

BHERBR®

KR ERHE (&

FEIATREER

Internal Trade receivables/
credit rating Description contract assets Other financial assets
AEERFR i ESRBEN ANEE HttEmEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
e XHHFNEOERREL BT EEMAHLE PHEHEEEHE NEARBESER
—FEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
usually settle in full not credit-impaired
BRaE BEHALERIBERES  BRE2HUERE PHRHEERR NEARBEEERE
—JHEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
initial recognition through information developed not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
internally or external resources
R BREBARBINFERAENERNSEAUR - FER 2HRACERR PHRAEERR
BRERZEM —JHEERE —HEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired
532 BREBETZEECEERNE PHRAEERR PHRAEERR
—EERE —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor isin severe  Amount is written-off Amount is written-off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
s FREBTEEARNBEVBERANASBLEAERY SBOMH RO

T ——

EETP
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B IR AR EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 31. aREREREBIZENBER®E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objective and policies (b) MEEBREEBERBEKE)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FERB MRER S (B)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TERAMEEESREERELD
financial assets and contract assets, which are subject to ECL BEZEERBARZER  ZE
assessment; BERETEHEEBENG -
External Internal 2025 Gross 2024 Gross
Notes creditrating creditrating  12mor lifetime ECL carrying amounts carrying amounts
N Ak 12BRR2 5%
WE  REHR &R FEEE “ECRERRSRE “RIMERESE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn ThL TEL
Financial assets at amortised cost
FBEAATEZSHEE
Trade receivables 18 NA (Note 2) Lifetime ECL 265,273 323,688
(not credit-impaired)
BARNER il (H3x2) 2EREEERE
GHEER®E)
Lifetime ECL 31,698 296,971 33262 356,950
(credit-impaired)
*HEHEEFE
(EERE)
QOther receivables B NA (Note 1) 12mECL 544 92
HthERER NER (k1) NEAEHEEFE
Bank halances 20 Al-AR N/A 12mECL 665 13412
Hnks Al-Aa2 NER NEAEEEEEE
QOtheritem
EAER
Contract assets 19  NA (Note 2) Lifetime ECL 160,707 101,355
(not credit-impaired)
ANEE NER lik2) rEREEERR
GHEER®E)
Loss Lifetime ECL 7427 168,134 5,246 106,601
(credit-impaired)
BE 2HEREERR
(EERE)
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31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

M

e MR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

TRIAREERZERBR @)

(b) MBEBREERFERBEE

I:I/\

KRB RHE ()

PisT
For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group (1 RABEERBRERZBH
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has Z!»“*lﬁﬁﬁﬁi@ﬁﬂ%?ﬁﬁ%
increased significantly since initial recognition. BREREVSERRELEE
2 e
Not past
due/no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
B B @Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2025 R-Z-RF=R=+—H
Other receivables and deposits Hib KRR R IZE - 544 544
As at 31 March 2024 RZZ-_WME=A=+—H
Other receivable and deposits Et RN ER RIS - 92 92
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has 2) HMEHIEYERLREHNEEM

applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on
these items on a collective basis, grouped by past due status.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group uses
debtors’ ageing to assess the impairment for its customers
because those customers have common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on a collective basis by
using provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).
Significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired trade
receivables and contract assets with gross carrying amounts
of approximately HK$31,698,000 (2024: HK$33,262,000) and
approximately HK$7,247,000 (2024: HK$5,246,000) respectively
as at 31 March 2025 were assessed individually or considered as
credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 3. eREREEBELRBKR#E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objective and policies (b) MERBREEBERBKE
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) = E R MR AR (E)
Notes: (Continued) Misr - (&)
(2)  (Continued) 2 @&
Gross carrying amount: FrmiaE :
2025 2024
—E-HEF —E-EF
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivable loss rate receivable
FHBER EHRUIEN THEEE  BHRUIRN
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Current BN ER 4.03% 12,186 0.26% 35,946
1-30 days past due #HA1-30H 4.11% 24,993 0.27% 33,707
31-60 days past due #HI31-60H 4.69% 634 0.30% 49,689
61-90 days past due #1Hi61-90H 5.18% 9,307 0.33% 40,073
91-365 days past due #1591-3658 5.92% 8,770 0.39% 164,273
Over 1 year past due BHEBF 24.51% 209,383 - -
265,273 323,688
2025 2024
—E-RE ZETZNE
Average Contract Average Contract
loss rate assets loss rate assets
FHEEE BREE FHEEE BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FHET
Current BN ER 4.03% 76,245 0.26% 101,355
1-30 days past due #EI1-30H 4.30% 1,591 N/A 3 FA -
31-60 days past due #HA31-60H 4.69% 1,375 N/A 3 3 -
61-90 days past due #E161-90H 5.19% 1,171 N/ATE A -
91-365 days past due #1H91-365H 5.92% 16,084 N/A 3 R -
Over 1 year past due BHRER B 49.36% 64,241 N/ATE A -
160,707 101,355

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

{5t 598 R o IRAE A 75 A T
8 8 P B B 0 2B KR A
B GRS BB A,
557 I8 18 #9196 1t 4 1
AR EEEGEMRT D
e LR A B A
BEHBEIEH -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 3. eRtEREEBEERBKR#E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objective and policies (b) MEEBREEBERBEKE)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERR RFEERE (&
The following table show reconciliation of loss allowances that TRERCDHERE 5 EWKIRE
has been recognised for trade receivables: BB

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHITEHR ZHiTEH
EEEE EEFE
(FEERE) (FERE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 April 2023: RZEZ=FMNA—H: 1,246 1,452 2,698
Change due to financial instruments E&BTAESHR-_T==F
recognised as at 1 April 2023: MMA— AR :
- impairment losses recognised -ERZREER - 14,657 14,657
- transfer to credit-impaired -EEEEEHE (131) 131 -
New financial asset originated FemEEEE 48 4,693 4,741
As at 31 March 2024: R-ZE-_ME=A=1+—H: 1,163 20,933 22,096
Change due to financial instruments R4 a8 T A EN - T _MF
recognised as at 1 April 2024 MA—B#R :
- Impairment losses reversed - b2 RERE = (750) (750)
- impairment losses recognised - R REEE 50,370 8,518 58,888
- transfer to credit-impaired -ENEEENE (211) 211 =
New financial asset originated NemEEEL 2,549 = 2,549
At 31 March 2025 R-ZZ-HF=A=+—-H 53,871 28,912 82,783
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND TRIAREERBZENRBR @)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objective and policies (b) BIEBREEEERBKE
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) = E R MR AR (E)
Changes in the loss allowances of trade receivables are mainly BIORWERERERBNESHF
due to: ZREWT :
2025
(Decrease) increase in lifetime ECL
b Sl 3
2HEBEEEHEHD)EM
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
FEERE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Further impairment made for trade BRAEERBRIEN - B S REUER
receivables due to increase in credit risk E—SHE 50,370 8,518
New trade receivables with gross amount of ~ 1 E ZEUKESBLED DA
approximately HK$55,891,000 and HK$nil 55,891,000 T REHE T
respectively 2,549 -
2024
(Decrease) increase in lifetime ECL
—TomE
> HRBE SR EM
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
FEERE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Trade debtors with a gross amount of BH BB BIEL255650008 & #)
approximately HK$25,565,000 defaulted THERBEERE
and recognised to credit-impaired - 14,657
Trade debtors defaulted and transferred to ~ BSEHARNTEL ZEERE
credit-impaired (131) 131
New trade receivables with gross amount HEIRNETBEES AN A
of approximately HK$18,461,000 and 18,461,000/ 7T & 7,544,000 7T
HK$7,544,000 respectively 48 4,693
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 31.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TRRREE IR R

(b) Financial risk management objective and policies (b) MEEBREEBERBEKE)

(Continued)
EERR

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) KOmET s (&

The following table show reconciliation of loss allowances that TRERCDHERANEEBRR

has been recognised for contract assets: HH SR
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL (not credit- ECL (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHTEH 2HEE
FEEE FEBE
GEEERE) (FERE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FEx FEL
As at 1 April 2023 R-E-=FWA—H 240 - 240
Change due to financial instruments R& B TAZHN T -=F
recognised as at 1 April 2023: MA—B®R
- impairment losses recognised - R BEEE - 3,228 3,228
New financial asset originated NemEEES 19 35 54
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZZWE=A=+—HK
ZZ-MEMA—H 259 3,263 3,522
Change due to financial instruments E& BT EESHH -T-NF
recognised as at 1 April 2024: MA—H®R
- impairment losses recognised -BRZREEE 31,456 3,544 35,000
- transferred to credit-impaired -EREEERNE (6) 6 -
New financial asset originated HMeRMEEEL 4,222 = 4,222
At 31 March 2025 R-B-RE=A=+-A 35,931 6,813 42,744

e S s : : e —-
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e MR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowances of contract assets are mainly

TRREREE R R

(b) BMBEBREEEFERBEE

=B R MO AR ()

BHEEBRBRENESHEIER

due to: B
2025
Increase in lifetime ECL
—Z-RE
HRBEEEREM
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
FEERE FERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET
Further impairment made for contract assets FAMEERBRIEN - AHEE
due to increase in credit risk E—FRE 31,456 3,544
New contract assets with gross amount of ~ HAWEEZ BEBHF
approximately HK$96,465,000 and nil 4)596,465,0008 TR E
respectively 4,222 -
2024
Increase in lifetime ECL
“ToME
> HRBEEEHREN
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
FEERE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contract assets with a gross amount of HBIER5219,0008 TR RN EED BT
approximately HK$5,219,000 defaulted ERAREERE
and recognised to credit-impaired = 3228
New contract assets with gross amount MEKEE BLEDHIKAT 3080008
of approximately HK$7,308,000 and 70 12.56,0007% 7T
HK$56,000 respectively 19 35
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

T ——

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 3. eRtEREEBEERBKR#E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objective and policies (b) MEEBREEBERBEKE)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk TENE & [E

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains sufficient level of cash and cash equivalents
to finance the Group's operations and expected expansion.
The Group's primary cash requirements include payments for
operating expenses. The Group finances its working capital
requirements mainly by the funds generated from operations
and borrowings.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group had
breached the loan covenant as at 31 March 2025. The liquidity
of the Group primarily depends on the future funding being
available and the ability of the Group to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. Details of which are set out in Note
3.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of each reporting period of the Group's financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
rates) and the earliest date the Group may be required to pay.
Specifically, borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of probability
of the lenders of banks choosing to exercise:

ERSERREETH > NEH
ERTH#FRENRE LIRSS
BY  NEBAKENEERTE
HIRR - AEENTEREFL
BRXNEERS - AEETE
BREBELNESTREEES
FEREHESREE -

HRAKRER _FT_RAF=A=
T—HERRERZY  #AKH
HERBETRER - AEBHR
HES T EZIURNAKAEH B
B hAKEETIHMBELE
MRES) - B BENERE M5
WARMEE3 -

TRFAVNAKESRABER SR
SHROFSREOIEA - 1Ly
REAOARBRASRE (BFER
BRI RFFEOF SN RAE
BrAl e AN RN Z R AHE -
ARmME - MEEERERERRK
MERDBRERRE - MT®w
RITERANERZDITR
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objective and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-_RF=A=1t—RHILFE

3. 2REMREIEBZERBEE@#E)

(b)

MBEREEBRERBKE)

mEE TR (E)

Liquidity table: RBESK :
On Total
Weighted demand contractual Total
average or within undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1year 1-5 years cash flow amount
SNRER
ESI REXY Rehg
87 | 180T 1858 g HEAE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR TEn TER TR
As at 31 March 2025 R-E-EFZR=1-A
Trade and other payables BFENEIRELERE = 26,680 = 26,680 26,680
Interest-bearing borrowings HEfRE 5.69% 60,242 = 60,242 60,242
Lease liabiltes ERR 5.83% 456 = 456 448
87378 - 87378 87370
As at 31 March 2024 R-B_mE=A=1-F
Trade and other payables BIRNEHRAMERER - 48754 - 48754 48754
Interest-bearing borrowings HEfRE 6.69% 53,725 - 53,725 53,725
Lease liabilities E4E 5.83% 864 456 1,320 1,200
103343 45 103,799 103,739
Interest-bearing borrowings with a repayment on demand B 512 ZSRER IEROFTEER

clause are included in the “on demand or within 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2025,
the aggregate amounts of these interest-bearing borrowings
amounted to HK$60,242,000 (2024: HK$53,725,000). Taking
into account the Group's financial position, the management
does not believe that it is probable that the banks as the
lenders will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The management believes that such
interest-bearing borrowings will be repaid over 5 years
after the end of the reporting period in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements,
details of which are set out in the table below (The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows):
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ERRELMIHABE TP
TZEKRFNFUATIREA - R
—E_hF=A=+—H " %%
TR EMERER60,242,000%
T(ZZF MM : 53,725,000%
70) © ERIIANEENEBAR -
ERERBRITERERAITRE
B 1548 B R BNR B SRR AT BE1E T
K- BEEHRELFAERER
KRB EMIRESFRREER
BB TR EERBHEER
AHBEHEN TR GZREENS LA

SRERE) :
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 3. eRtEREEBEERBKR#E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objective and policies (b) MEEBREEBERBEKE)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) nEBE SRR (E)

Maturity Analysis - Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

HBRAY - REHENEES  WEREXERATNENER

Total
contractual

undiscounted Total

Less than 1 year 1-2years 2-5years  Over 5years cash flow  carrying amount
EHES

HiE 152% 255 SENL ReREME  BEAE
HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

31 March 2025 ZECRFZR=T-H 53171 1,074 3222 4,208 61,675 60,242
31 March 2024 1 46,615 1074 3222 5282 5,193 53,725
Fair value measurements of financial instruments EMIANRAFE

In the opinion of management of the Group, the carrying AEBERERR  AKENS
amounts of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group MEERBENRABERIN
carried at amounts are not materially different from their fair Z_RAFERZZZME=ZA=+
values as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. —HHNATETEERESR -

REEEEBRAEAT £452024025 179
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 32. RRBI AR K M GEE

OF THE COMPANY

2025 2024
—E-RE —EPUF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5T FHT FHET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB R RN E = —*
Current assets RBEEE
Amount due from a subsidiary W — W B AR FIE 102,056 102,256
Bank balance and cash RITEHRNIR S 183 186
102,239 102,442
Current liability REIEE
Other payable At T RIE 600 200
Net current assets and net assets MEEEFEREETE 101,639 102,242
Capital and reserves ERRHE
Share capital [N 16,000 16,000
Reserves (Note) e (M) 85,639 86,242
Total equity RSB 101,639 102,242

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025

and are signed on its behalf by:

Leung Yam Cheung

ARAZHMBRRAKRER B _RF
NAZ+TBHEEESHELRET
% HAUTESKERRSE:

Leung Wing Chun

RIEH REiE
Director Director
EF EF
A Represents amount less than HK$1,000 i SR 1,000 ETT
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 32. KRB BEARREK K FHEE @)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note: BitsE
(@) RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (@) AELTENFE
Share  Accumulated
premium losses Tota
IR EE ZitEE R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET
At 1 April 2023 WZEBE-Z=FMA—H 91,065 (3,646) 87,419
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FREIE R 2 E S 25
for the year - 1,177) (1,177)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZZWF=A=+—BK
ZZTNFMA—A 91,065 (4,823) 86,242
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FREE &2 H X B3
for the year - (603) (603)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-HF=A=+—H 91,065 (5,426) 85,639

*rEEEERAEAT £452024025 181
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33. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. B ARIFE
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RBERREAAREENHERER 2
Company at the end of the reporting period are as follow: MEBARMFBEHIWT
Place of Issued and
incorporation fully paid up Proportion of ownership interest
Name of subsidiary and operations  share capital and voting power held by the Company Principal activities
EMALR BEITR
WEAREH EEBY BRBA RATRENAEREERRRELY) TERH
Directly Directy  Indirectly Indirectly
EH Bk 5t &
2025 2024 2025 2024

“ECREE -—E-mE  ZBE-REFE —E-MAE

Evergreen Construction Development ~ BVI Nil 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Holding Limited (‘Evergreen’) RERUEE i REER
Everbright Construction Engineering ~ BVI Nil 100% 100% - = Investment holding
Holding Limited (‘Everbright’) RBRTES i REER
Evergrow Construction Equipment BVI Nil 100% 100% - = Investment holding
Holding Limited ("Evergrow’) HBRLEE i B
Temmex Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of formwork
('Temmex’) &k 10,0007 works services
REIRBERAR(XE]) REER TR
Temmex Brothers Engineering Limited  Hong Kong HK$10,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
("Temmex Brothers”) Bk 10,000 T NaE

AERBIRARLA(RERE))

Kennex Scaffolding Systems Co,, Hong Kong HK$10,000 - - 100% 100%  Supply of metal
Limited ('Kennex’) Bk 1000077 scaffold equipment

BNBRZGERAF(RA)) and related parts

HESERRRER
B

Note: BitsE

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of this RAFER - BTN E AR ETEME

year. B °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into a new
lease agreement for the use of leased properties for 2 to 3 years. On
the lease commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of approximately HK$734,000 and approximately
HK$734,000, respectively.

. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, for enhancing the relevance
of the presentation of the consolidated financial statements,
reclassification have been made to certain comparative figures
presented in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
the prior year to achieve comparability with the current year's
presentation.

iRE IS ERER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

34. TEFAERS

HE_Z-_NWE=A=+—HIL%F
B AEEREEYET L —BEHAE
EE o HHA2E3F - RAEMA
B AEBESRERERAEEE A
5 B 5 #7734,00058 7T & #9734,00078

ol

g 1% 3

BE_T-_AF=-A=+—BI#F
B AREGEVBREXEZYHMEEH
M BHGEEMBHRERENET
TFENBETETETE - UE
HARFEN 25T HETLER ©
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= T NPTEEERS — — S —



Five-Year Financial Summary

hFEERE
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=T-HLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RE Sl 1f: 5 —E-=F —E-CE —E--&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET AR TR TEL
RESULTS E¥ ]
Revenue WA 402,912 608,078 612,780 538,355 534,280
Cost of services FRER AR A (398,565) (599,377) (571,077) (482,213) (462,381)
Gross profit E 4,347 8,701 41,703 56,142 71,899
(Loss) profit before tax B A (&5 18) R A (105,176) (32,274) 34,801 34,465 69,907
Income tax expenses FERAY (235) (122) (4.222) (5,678) (9,299)
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive A% & B AFEEF A (FE)
(expense) income for the year AN R 2E R RERE
attributable to owners of the
Company (105,411) (32,396) 30,579 28,787 60,608
As at 31 March
R=ZA=1+-H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—ECRE —ECNE —“E-CE —E-F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TET AR TR AL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets ERPEE 558 11,836 26,208 38,833 45827
Current assets MEBEE 344,510 454228 464,297 405,913 383,157
Total assets BESE 345,068 466,064 490,505 444,746 428978
Current liabilities MEERE 87,370 103,291 95,871 84,486 96,939
Non-current liabilities FEnBEE 4,735 4,399 3,864 69 635
Total liabilities BREE 92,105 107,690 99,735 84,555 97,574
Net assets BEEFE 252,963 358,374 390,770 360,191 331,404
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